Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
Jean Cousens, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 0208 547 5023/email jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk
Published on Wednesday 13 March 2019

Children's and Adults'
Care and Education Committee
Date:

Thursday 21 March 2019

Time:

7:30 pm

Place:

Guildhall, High Street, Kingston, KT1 1EU
Members of the Committee
Councillor Margaret Thompson (Chair)
Councillor Diane White (Vice Chair)

Councillor Stephanie Archer, Councillor Mark Durrant, Councillor Sam Foulder-Hughes,
Councillor Ed Fram, Councillor Maria Netley, Councillor Munir Ravalia,
Councillor Anita Schaper, Councillor Chris Stuart, and Councillor Annette Wookey,
Advisory members: Jane Marwood (representing Southwark CE Diocese) and
GP Advisory members, Dr Naz Jivani and Dr Pete Smith.

Everyone is welcome to attend the meeting
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR code
with your smartphone.

2

3

Agenda
1.

Public Question Time

A period of up to 30 minutes for public questions on matters relevant to the Committee’s
remit which are not related to items featuring on the agenda. Advance notice of
questions is preferred but not essential.
2.

Apologies for Absence and Attendance of Substitute Members

3.

Declarations of interest

Members are invited to declare any pecuniary interests and any non-pecuniary interests
(personal interests) relevant to items on the agenda.
4.

Petitions

5.

Minutes

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meetings held on
(a) 7 February 2019 and
(b) 13 February 2019
6.

Children's Centre Strategy

Appendix A

To report on the outcomes of consultation on children’s centre provision in Kingston
upon Thames and recommend future delivery model of children’s centre services in line
with the Children’s Centres Strategy and in response to the feedback from the public
consultation.
7.

Statutory Social Care Complaints Annual Report

Appendix B

To inform the Committee of the performance and outcomes of statutory complaints for
adult and children’s social care in 2017/18.
8.

Urgent Items authorised by the Chair

9.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

The following resolution is included as a standard item which will only be relevant if any exempt
matter is to be considered at the meeting for which the Committee wish to resolve to exclude the
press and public: To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as defined in
paragraph x of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act, would be disclosed and the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.
In the event of exclusion being agreed, members of the public and press are to withdraw to the
Reception on the ground floor of the Guildhall to await re-admission to the Chamber.

4

Welcome to this meeting.
The following information explains the way some things are done at the meeting and some of
the procedures.
Information about the Children's and Adults' Care and Education Committee
The Committee is made up of your local elected Councillors and is responsible for making
decisions about local services, which can be tailored to the local area.
Accessibility





All meetings have access for people who may have mobility difficulties. If there are stairs,
a lift or stairlift is available. Disabled parking spaces are available on site.
Toilet facilities will be easily accessible from the meeting room.
For people who are deaf or have hearing impairments, there is an induction loop
(depending on the building, this may only be available in the first 2 or 3 rows).
A large print copy of the agenda can be requested in advance.

Emergency evacuation arrangements - If the fire alarm sounds, please leave the building by
the nearest exit. If you require assistance please remain seated and an Officer will assist you
from the building.
Webcasting of the meeting - This meeting will be webcast live on https://kingston.publici.tv/core/portal/home and a recording will also be available to watch back a few hours
afterwards. Recordings are accessible for a period of 12 months. Members of the public sitting
in the public seating area will not generally be in direct camera shot but we cannot always
guarantee this, so please note that, by attending the meeting, you are consenting to being
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or
training purposes.
Filming - Residents and journalists/media wishing to film meetings are permitted to do so but
are asked to give advance notice of this and respect any concerns expressed by people on
being filmed.
Information for members of the public - Details on access to the meeting, asking questions,
speaking on items, call in and other information are just after the list of items.
There is a Question Time of up to 30 minutes from 7.30pm – 8pm.
Running order - Items may be taken in a different order depending on the interests of the
members of the public present at the meeting. Please fill out a green form, available at the start
of the meeting, if you would like to request that a particular item is heard earlier.
Contact for further information - about Council Committees and meetings please contact:
Jean Cousens, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel: 0208 547 5023/email
jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk

5

More meeting information
Public participation during the meeting - During the course of the meeting, the Chair, at
his/her discretion, may allow contributions, on items listed on the agenda. To attract the
Chair’s attention please raise your hand.
Do you want to ask a question or are you here for a particular item? - There are some
green slips on the chairs and there are more copies. These can be used to ask a question
or to ask for an item to be taken earlier in the meeting. Please fill in the relevant part and
hand this in to the Committee Secretary at the top table.
Question time - Questions may be submitted in writing before the meeting or handed in at
the start of the meeting on the green forms provided. For enquiries please contact Jean
Cousens, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel: 0208 547 5023/email
jean.cousens@kingston.gov.uk
Where a full reply cannot be given at the meeting, a written reply will be sent to the
questioner, members of the Committee and the local press. The Chair may disallow any
question which, in his/her opinion, is scurrilous, capricious, irrelevant or otherwise
objectionable.
Speaking at meetings - Speaking at a meeting can be a daunting prospect and every
effort is made to make this as easy as possible. Speech friendly arrangements will take
account of people who may have a speech impairment, e.g. they may have a stammer. If
you have any individual requirements or feel that standing or addressing the meeting may
present a difficulty, please let us know beforehand. Arrangements will be made to help you
as far as reasonably possible.
Phrases used at meetings - Like all organisations, the Council has its own ‘jargon’. On
the agenda and during debates you will see/hear the following phrases:

Interests - Councillors must say if they have an interest in any of the items on the
agenda. Interests may be personal or pecuniary. Depending on the interests declared, it
might be necessary for the Councillor to leave the meeting. The detail on interests is in Part
5A of the Constitution - Members’ Code of Conduct.

Call In - Most of the decisions made at the Committee, except on decisions on
planning applications/ planning enforcement/tree preservation orders and any licensing
applications, can be called in for review by a minimum of 100 people who live, work or study
in the Borough or 9 Councillors. A Decision Notice will be published on the Council’s
website soon after the meeting with details of the decisions and the call in period expires
10 working days after the meeting. Decisions are not, therefore, acted upon until it is clear
that they are not going to be called in.
The call in means the decision will be reviewed by a meeting of the Council’s Scrutiny
Panel. The Panel at this meeting cannot change the original decision. It may decide that no
further action is necessary, in which case the decision will be implemented or will refer the
issue back to the decision making Committee (or, exceptionally, to a meeting of the Full
Council) with its views and a request that the decision is reconsidered taking account of
these views.
Minutes - The minutes briefly summarise the item and record the decision. They do not
record who said what during the debate.

6

A1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix A

21 March 2019
Children’s Centre Strategy
Report by the Interim Director of Children’s Services
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Diane White
Purpose
To report on the outcomes of consultation on children’s centre provision in Kingston upon
Thames and recommend future delivery model of children’s centre services in line with the
Children’s Centres Strategy and in response to the feedback from the public consultation.
Recommendations
To resolve that 1.

the results of the public consultation (as set out in paragraphs 12-15 and Annex 1 of
the report) on the future direction for children’s centres provision in Kingston are noted
and considered;

2.

Norbiton and Surbiton Children’s Centres are remodelled from June 2019 and the
provision of services will be offered through outreach into the local communities; and

3.

New Malden and North Kingston Children centres are remodelled from April 2020 with
a phased reduction in children centre activity to target those most in need (as set out
in paragraph 10 of the report).

Benefits to the Community:
The proposals aim to maximise available resources by targeting children’s centre provision
at the most vulnerable families in the most deprived areas through outreach, while ensuring
children, young people and families continue to receive a high quality children’s centre offer
in Kingston.

Key Points
A.

This Committee approved the Children Centre Strategy on 20 September 2018, which
set out to strengthen the outreach provision, maximise resources and target the most
vulnerable families in the deprived communities in Kingston.

B.

Public consultation was undertaken to gather the views of service users with 744
responses received, representing approximately 15.0% of service users who are
currently accessing children’s centre provision.

C.

The key findings from the consultation are set out in paragraph 13 of the report. The
detailed consultation findings can be found in Annex 1 of the report.

D.

This report outlines a proposal on remodelling children centre provision, taking
account of the required savings of £240,000 and wider council savings required of
£12.1m.

A2

E.

Members are to note the statutory definition of a children’s centre which is: A place or
group of places:
i) which is managed by or on behalf of, or under arrangements with, the local authority
with a view to securing that early childhood services in the local authority’s area are
made available in an integrated way.
ii) through which early childhood services are made available (either by providing the
services on site, or by providing advice and assistance on gaining access to services
elsewhere); and
iii) at which activities for young children are provided.
It follows from the statutory definition of a children’s centre that children’s centres are
as much about making appropriate and integrated services available, as it is about
providing premises in particular geographical areas.

Context
1.

Local authorities have a statutory duty to ensure there are sufficient children’s
centre services to meet the needs of children aged 0-4 and their families.

2.

The core purpose of children’s centres is to improve outcomes for young children
and their families and reduce inequalities between families in greatest need and
their peers. This is achieved through a range of early childhood services.

3.

Kingston has an outstanding track record in achieving excellent outcomes for
children in early years through our network of childminders, nursery schools, early
years’ providers and early years health services. This is particularly important for
those children and their families who may need additional support in the early years
because of their vulnerable circumstances.

4.

The challenging financial situation, both nationally and locally, requires a new way
of working to ensure that children’s centre provision is able to continue to deliver a
high quality offer.

5.

Recent research highlights that 1,000 children’s centres have ceased providing
services since 2010.
Nationally the average reduction in children’s centre provision is 34.8%. The
majority of Kingston’s statistical neighbours have already reduced or proposed a
reduction in children’s centre provision. This is set out in the table below:
Local Authority

% children centres closures (2009-10 to 2018)

Barnet

7.7% reduction

Bracknell Forest

Reduction in hours

Oxfordshire

80.0% reduction (proposed)

Reading

69.2% reduction

Surrey

71.0% reduction (proposed)

Sutton

21.0% reduction

A3

Consultation proposal
6.

In the context of the financial position in Kingston, the continued occupation of eight main
children’s centre sites across the borough is unsustainable in terms of finances and the
staff resource to offer a full range of services.

7.

The public consultation proposed to:

8.

○

decommission four children’s centres (Norbiton, Surbiton, New Malden; North
Kingston);

○

provide a strengthened offer of services and outreach to local communities;

○

continue to provide a core offer of children’s centre activities at the following sites:
Chessington, Kingston Town, Old Malden and Tolworth Children’s Centres.

The reasons for the proposed decommissioning of the four centres are set out in the
table below:
Children’s Centres
Norbiton

Surbiton

North Kingston

New Malden

Lowest number of
exclusive users

Smaller centre with no
room for expansion

Not located in or near
a deprived area

Limited activity
programme- was
reduced when
children’s centre
services remodelled
into clusters

Regular users mainly
access health services
that can be provided at
alternative sites and
close proximity to
outreach e.g.
Dickerage Lane Youth
Centre less than 0.1
miles away

Outreach sites include
nearby nursery which
is less than 0.1 miles
away from the current
site

Regular users mainly
access midwifery
services which can be
provided at nearby
centres and clinical
settings

1.6 miles to Old
Malden Children’s
Centre which
continues to offer a
similar programme
including access to
health services and
English as an
Additional Language

Within 1.2 miles of
Kingston Town
Children’s Centre

Within 0.9 miles of
Tolworth Children’s
Centre

1.5 miles to Kingston
Town Children’s
Centre

9.

The consultation responses highlighted that Children Centre activities are highly
valued by residents, particularly in New Malden and North Kingston, as well as those
centres which were not proposed for change.

Proposals
10.

Following the public consultation, it is proposed to:
(1)

remodel the delivery of services from Norbiton and Surbiton Children’s Centres
by June 2019 and provide service delivery through an outreach approach within
local communities at Dickerage Youth Centre and within the Surbiton area (see
point (3) below).

A4
remodel the delivery of services from North Kingston and New Malden Children’s
Centres by April 2020, using a phased approach to reducing children’s centre
activities to target those in most need, whilst taking account of the needs of the
local communities to support the transition to a new model of delivery.

(2)

(3)

strengthen the outreach provision by providing children centre activities from the
following locations :
●
●
●
●

Kingsnympton;
Dickerage Youth Centre;
Cambridge Road Estate; and
Surbiton area.

In developing this new model, the children’s centre workforce will be redesigned into
a borough based delivery model as set out in the strategy and the following key
actions arising from the consultation feedback will be implemented:
(a)

prioritise the services identified as popular and important.

(b)

work with health partners, such as health visiting and midwifery, to ensure there
continues to be a good offer of health services available to families. Health
provision will continue under the new arrangements in different venues.

(c)

continue to explore the potential to extend the range of venues and sites to
deliver children’s centre activities.

(d)

pilot an extension of the range of provision for children aged 5-11 years old
during school holidays.

(e)

work with the Parent Fora attached to children’s centres to identify income
generating opportunities.

(f)

rebrand the children’s centres into children and family centres.

Next steps
11.

Should the above proposals be resolved, the next steps would be to:
●

develop an implementation plan to deliver the agreed proposals;

●

publish consultation findings; and

●

implement a communications plan to inform key stakeholders.

Consultations
12.

The public consultation ran for over seven weeks from 12 December 2018 to 4
February 2019. There were a total of 744 responses. A range of approaches were
used to collect the responses. This included:
●

an initial email to all registered children’s centre users to encourage them to
take part and follow up email to remind them to complete the survey.

●

a printed link to the survey was given out to all service users across all sites
including outreach sites throughout the consultation period.

●

staff in children’s centres promoted the consultation and provided access to
complete the online survey to users at the centres, as well as offering paper
copies.

●

focused sessions were held in all eight sites and outreach venues.

●

where necessary, one to one support was provided to help users participate,
offered translation services, and held targeted sessions with specific hard to

A5
reach users e.g. in New Malden with families who have English as an additional
language.

●
13.

publicising the consultation on the AfC Local Offer website, through social
media and through key stakeholders and partners.

The detailed findings from the consultation are included in Annex 1 and are
summarised below:

Experience of using children’s centres
●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

The children’s centres most used by the respondents are North Kingston (18.8%); Tolworth
(18.0%); Kingston Town (16.6%); and Chessington (14.3%). The least used centres are
Surbiton (13.5%); New Malden (11.0%); Old Malden (6.1%); and Norbiton (1.7%). The
percentage of respondents who use Norbiton was particularly low.
In terms of which other children’s centres are used, Surbiton (39.1%); Tolworth (32.9%);
Kingston Town (28.9%); and Chessington (20.3%) are the most used. North Kingston (15.7%);
New Malden (15.7%); Old Malden (15.5%); and Norbiton (13.6%) are the least used.
Children’s centres are well used- almost half of respondents (46.2%) stated they visited
children’s centres one or two times a week and a fifth (20.6%) said they attend two to four times
per month.
The most popular services delivered at the children’s centres are Stay and Play (83.9%); health
visitors (66.2%); Rhyme Time (56.3%); Messy Play (48.5%); and baby massage (40.9%). Other
popular services noted included Baby, Junior and Mama Jammers, breastfeeding advice and
support, and Crafty Tales.
The most important services delivered were Stay and Play (97.6%); health visitors (93.4%);
early years advice (91.9%); Messy Play (91.1%); and childcare advice (86.7%). Other services
noted as important included the range of support on offer including breastfeeding support and
Jammers.
Respondents were keen to emphasise the importance of the support and help provided at the
centres, the social and community aspects they provide and the play and development
opportunities.
The least popular services were domestic violence support (1.4%); English as an additional
language sessions (1.7%); JobCentre Plus advice (1.7%); foodbank vouchers (2.5%); and
benefit advice (4.2%). The services considered least important were English as an additional
language (27.5%); foodbank vouchers (24.6%); JobCentre Plus advice (23.3%); benefit advice
(21.4%); and family support worker support (18.8%).
Although these services, which are more aimed at parents, were considered less important,
95.0% of respondents stated that they agreed they could ask for support advice relating to
issues such as health, parenting skills or employment and training from a children’s centre.
Respondents praised the support and advice that is given and the helpful and approachable
staff.
In terms of getting to the centres, 86.7% of respondents stated that they walked, with 20.7%
driving. Respondents emphasised the importance of being able to access local provision, ideally
by foot.

Proposals for the future of children’s centres in Kingston
●
●

64.5% of respondents do not agree with the proposals (strongly disagree/ disagree). 21.3%
agree (strongly agree/ agree) and 14.2% neither agree nor disagree.
Of the comments provided: 16.7% of respondents can understand the reasons for the
proposals; 15.5% thought the proposals are unfair for those who cannot travel easily and may

A6
lead to increased isolation for parents; 14.5% thought the Council should re-prioritise to find
funding for the children’s centres; and 10.0% expressed concern about remaining children’s
centre becoming too busy.
Just under half of respondents (46.6%) stated the proposals would definitely make it more
difficult to access children’s centre services. 29.9% stated it would make it more difficult to some
extent, 20.6% said it wouldn’t make it more difficult, and 3.0% said they did not know. The main
comments related to concerns about the capacity of remaining children’s centres and the
distance and time taken to travel to a children’s centre.
Just over half of the respondents (51.2%) stated that the changes would mean that they would
not use the children’s centres as much in the future and 15.7% stated they would not use
children’s centres at all. 17.0% of respondents the proposals said it would have no impact at all
and 15.6% said they would use another children’s centre in the future. Concerns raised related
to the capacity of the remaining centres and the required travel.
Respondents said they would stop using children’s centres or use them less because of
additional travel travel (60.5%); sessions being too full (44.6%); and 44.6% said they would be
unable to travel to any other locations.
Respondents were asked for comments about how else children’s centre services could be
sustained- responses included re-prioritising other council services (33.6%); seek voluntary
contributions (22.4%); or fundraise (21.6%).

●

●

●

●

Enhancing the children’s centre offer
●

Just under half (49.4%) of respondents agreed with the proposals to redevelop the remaining
children’s centres to offer a wider range of services. 30.1% of respondents did not agree.
The most popular name for the new centres was ‘Children and Family Centres’ (46.5%).
If the offer was to be expanded, respondents stated they would like the following services to be
delivered: activities for children aged five to 11 during school holidays (73.9%); postnatal
support and advice (75.3%); expansion of support to children aged between 0 to 11 (rather than
0 to five) (61.9%); and family support drop in advice (58.9%).

●
●

14.

It is worth noting that the consultation findings indicated lower preference for
co-location with provision of other services (such as Benefits advice, English as an
additional language; family support worker support, foodbank vouchers, and
JobCentre Plus). However, caution needs to be exercised when drawing
conclusions from this, as the consultation has engaged 15% of the registered
children centre user population, so it is not possible to be completely satisfied that
the findings are fully representative of the needs of hard-to-reach families.

15.

Following the public consultation concluding, a petition was submitted at the Council
meeting on 26 February 2019 which had received 345 eligible signatures online and
234 eligible signatures in hard copy which requested that the children’s centres
remain open. The wording of the petition was as follows:

“We strongly oppose the proposed closures of half of the children’s centres within the borough of
Kingston. We fervently believe that the changes in how the remainder operate, including the removal
of sessions into the community will not be sufficient to meet local need and will raise serious
safeguarding concerns. We insist that the children’s centres remain open. In the event of closures, we
demand financial investment ensuring that:
●
●
●
●

The remaining centres can be fully staffed;
Each centre has a full time member of staff available to parents throughout the week;
The remaining centres are able to meet the needs of a greater number of families;
Sessions currently being held continue to run within the children’s centre buildings;

A7
●

Any sessions held in alternative local venues must guarantee that:
a. the general public cannot access families;
b. parents can converse with staff privately in a separate room; and
c. there is wheelchair access.
We ask that the Council seriously consider the detrimental impact that the proposed changes would
have for many families and that the investment in our children and their futures should be a priority.”

16.

As the petition received over 500 eligible signatures, it would be eligible for debate
at full Council, which is likely to be at its meeting on 24 April. (This would not,
however, prevent the Committee making a decision on the recommendations of this
report at the meeting on 21 March 2019).

Timescale
17.

If agreed, the decommissioning of Norbiton and Surbiton Children’s Centre will be
implemented by June 2019 and North Kingston and New Malden Children’s Centres
by April 2020.

Financial Implications
18.

The original proposal was for a saving of £240,000 based on the decommissioning
of four buildings and the rationalisation of staffing effective from 1 April 2019. The
latest proposal following consultation, to review delivery of Surbiton and Norbiton in
2019/20 and New Malden and North Kingston in 2020/21, has impacted on the
ability to meet the full year savings for next financial year.

19.

This proposal is shown below and will meet the full required savings by 2020/21.
The saving is not met in 19/20 due to the phased approach of decommissioning the
four underutilised buildings as well as implementation of the 19/20 plan being
scheduled for July 2019 (previously April 2019).

20.

The original efficiency saving, based on closure of four underutilised buildings,
totalled £240,000 and was agreed as part of the budget setting process for 2019/20.
Therefore the revised option creates a funding gap for 2019/20 of £104,858 within
children’s services budgets for the upcoming financial year. The shortfall will need
to be addressed in-year. In the first instance Achieving for Children will look to
mitigate the gap in consultation with the Director of Corporate and Commercial.

21.

22.

A8
The impact of the savings over the two financial years is shown below:

The Council has agreed a £50,000 investment budget to facilitate the development
of the children’s centre outreach model, to ensure better access to some
communities who do not benefit from the current offer. This funding is for 2019/20
only and will assist with the transition to the new outreach based model during the
next financial year. The outreach model underpins the Children’s Centre Strategy
and the ongoing additional resources will be a priority for consideration as part of
next year’s budget process.

Legal Implications
23.

The Childcare Act 2006 (as amended) places the following duties on the Council:
●
●
●
●

24.

S1: general duty to improve the wellbeing of young children in its area and to
reduce inequalities between young children;
S3: duty to secure that early childhood services are provided in an integrated
manner calculated to facilitate access and to maximise the benefit of those
services to parents, prospective parents and young children.
S5A: early childhood services must “so far as is reasonably practicable,
include arrangements for sufficient provision of children’s centre to meet
local need”.
S5D: to undertake “such consultation as they think appropriate” before
making any arrangements regarding early childhood services; before any
significant change in the services provided through a children’s centre and
before anything is done that would result in a relevant children’s centre
ceasing to be a children’s centre.

The Council must have regard to the DfE Sure Start statutory guidance 2013 and
should not depart from it unless good reason to do so. Members attention is drawn
to the following key points regarding the provision of sufficient children’s centres to
meet the needs of those in greatest need of support. The Council must:
a) ensure that a network of children’s centres is accessible to all families with
young children in the area;
b) ensure children’s centres are within reasonable reach;
c) target children’s centres at young children and children and families in the area
who are at risk of poor outcomes;
d) ensure opening times and the availability of services meet the needs of
families in the area;
e) not close and existing family centre site in any reorganisation unless it can be
demonstrated that the outcomes for children would not be adversely affected and
will not compromise the duty to have sufficient children’s centres to meet local
need. The starting point should be a presumption against the closure of children’s
centres.

25.

A9
In considering this matter, Members must satisfy themselves that the
recommendations comply with the relevant statutory duties and guidance and that
conscientious consideration has been given to the consultation responses in the
formulation of the recommendations that the council is being asked to approve and
that the decision is taken in a fair and balanced manner.

Risk Assessment
26.

A detailed risk register will be prepared as part of the development of the
implementation plan should the proposals be agreed.

27.

There is a significant risk should the proposals not be agreed the children’s centre
model would be unsustainable.

Equalities Analysis
28.

A full equality assessment has been completed. It has found that the proposals will
have an impact on some children, young people and parents and carers from the
protected characteristics groups. However, Achieving for Children will work with
families to mitigate this impact. The aim would be to continue as much service
delivery and activity as possible using alternative local venues with outreach teams.
Each cluster already implements a comprehensive outreach plan into local
communities with specific focus on areas of higher deprivation. This is already
happening in a number of venues in the local area. For example, activities are
currently being delivered in a number of local schools. This outreach model would
enable us to make savings by no longer using the buildings proposed and no longer
having the associated premises costs.

29.

The full equality assessment can be found in Annex 2 of the report.

Health Implications
30.

An element of the children’s centre offer relates to health services- specifically
midwifery, health visiting services, and breastfeeding support and advice. Achieving
for Children will work with health partners to ensure there is an alternative venue
identified (either remaining children’s centre or outreach site or clinical venue) to
deliver any health services that may previously have been delivered in a children’s
centre due to be decommissioned.

31.

The consultation responses highlighted the social and community aspect of
children’s centres as a means of preventing isolation and mental health issues.

Environmental, Air Quality and Road Network Implications
32.

No implications arising from the specific recommendations of this report.

Background papers held by the author of the report  - Sarah Reid, Head of Children, Youth
and Partnerships, Phone: 07909883757, Email: sarah.reid@achievingforchildren.org.uk:
-

None

Annexes to the report: Annex 1: Public Consultation Findings Annex 2: Equality
Assessment

A10

Annex 1
Kingston children's centres consultation (DRAFT)
Summary of responses

1. Introduction
This report summarises the findings of the consultation on the future of children’s centres in
Kingston, which ran from 13 December 2018 to 1 February 2019.
2. Format of the consultation
The main consultation channel was an online survey hosted on the Local Offer website:
https://www.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/community-information/information-and-advice/childre
n-centres/kingston-upon-thames-children-s-centres-consultation
This was complemented by Frequently Asked Questions (on the Local Offer site) and 13
drop-in events held between 9 - 25 January. Paper copies and easyread versions were
available on request.
The consultation was publicised via:
● email to users of children’s centres on Achieving for Children’s database;
● the news section and consultation hub on the Local Offer website;
● publicity in children’s centres, libraries and other community venues across
the venue; and
● regular Tweets from AfC and Kingston Council accounts.
The survey was divided into four sections:
● Section 1: Your experience of using children’s centres. This section comprised 13
questions about respondents’ experience of using Kingston children’s centres. These
included 6 free text boxes to capture any other comments from respondents.
● Section 2: Proposals for the future of children’s centre services in Kingston. This
section provided contextual information about the proposals and asked respondents
for their views. The section included various free text boxes to capture any other
comments from respondents.
● Section 3: Enhancing the children’s centre offer. This section explained the rationale
behind broadening the use of children’s centres buildings so that they host services
for the whole family, and asked respondents for their views.
● Section 4: Your details. This section asked for details of respondents’ postcode, age,
ethnicity, disability and gender.
There were 744 respondents in total. This accounts for 15.0% of the registered children’s
centre users.

A11

Annex 1

3. Your experience of using children's centres
1a. Are you completing this questionnaire as (tick all that apply):
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

A parent or carer of a child or children
under the age of 5

88.49%

646

2

A soon-to-be parent

5.62%

41

3

A school representative

1.64%

12

4

A health professional

4.11%

30

5

A professional working with children
under 5

7.95%

58

6

A professional working with a partner
agency

1.23%

9

7

A voluntary or community sector
organisation

1.10%

8

8

A private sector organisation

0.00%

0

9

A councillor

0.27%

2

3.70%

27

answered

730

skipped

11

10 Other (please specify):

Analysis

Mean:

2.15

Std. Deviation:

2.2

Variance:

4.82

Std. Error:

0.08

Satisfaction Rate:

11.25

The majority of respondents (88.5%) were a parent or carer of a child under five. The next
highest was professionals working with children under five (7.9%) followed by
soon-to-be-parents (5.6%) and health professionals (4.1%).
27 respondents stated ‘other’ and 26 respondents completed the ‘other’ field. Of these,
42.3% were parents of older children or parents who have used centres in the past; 26.9%
were relatives such as grandparents, aunts, etc; 11.5% were professionals; 11.5% were
residents; 3.8% were parents; and 3.8% were volunteers.

A12

Annex 1
1b. Have you visited a children’s centre in the last 12 months?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Yes

94.76%

687

2

No

5.24%

38

answered

725

skipped

16

Analysis

Mean:

1.05

Std. Deviation:

0.22

Variance:

0.05

Std. Error:

0.01

Satisfaction Rate:

5.24

94.8% stated they had visited a children’s centre in the last 12 months. Only 5.2% stated
they had not.
1c. Which children’s centre do you usually use in Kingston?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Chessington

14.34%

104

2

Kingston Town

16.55%

120

3

New Malden

11.03%

80

4

Norbiton

1.66%

12

5

North Kingston

18.76%

136

6

Old Malden

6.07%

44

7

Surbiton

13.52%

98

8

Tolworth

18.07%

131

answered

725

skipped

16

Analysis

Mean:

4.57

Std. Deviation:

2.51

Variance:

6.28

Std. Error:

0.09

Satisfaction Rate:

50.94

A13

Annex 1
The children’s centres most used by the respondents are North Kingston (18.8%);
Tolworth(18.0%); Kingston Town (16.6%); and Chessington (14.3%). The least used centres
are Surbiton (13.5%); New Malden (11.0%); Old Malden (6.1%); and Norbiton (1.7%). The
percentage of respondents who use Norbiton was particularly low.
1d. How often do you visit this children’s centre?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

3-4 times per week

10.24%

74

2

1-2 times per week

46.20%

334

3

2-4 times per month

20.61%

149

4

Once a month

10.65%

77

5

Less than once per month

12.31%

89

answered

723

skipped

18

Analysis

Mean:

2.69

Std. Deviation:

1.17

Variance:

1.37

Std. Error:

0.04

Satisfaction Rate:

42.15

Children’s centres are well used - almost half of respondents (46.2%) stated they visited
children’s centres one or two times a week and a fifth (20.6%) said they attend two to four
times per month.
A similar percentage visit 3-4 times per week (10.2%) as visit once a month (10.7%) with the
remainder (12.3%) visiting less than once a month.
1e. Do you use any other children’s centres in Kingston? (tick all that apply)
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Chessington

20.32%

114

2

Kingston Town

28.88%

162

3

New Malden

15.69%

88

4

Norbiton

13.55%

76

A14

Annex 1

5

North Kingston

16.40%

92

6

Old Malden

15.51%

87

7

Surbiton

39.04%

219

8

Tolworth

32.98%

185

answered

561

skipped

180

Analysis

Mean:

8.91

Std. Deviation:

6.39

Variance:

40.83

Std. Error:

0.27

Satisfaction Rate:

101.3

In terms of which other children’s centres are used, Surbiton (39.1%); Tolworth (32.9%);
Kingston Town (28.9%); and Chessington (20.3%) are the most used. North Kingston (15.7%);
New Malden (15.7%); Old Malden (15.5%); and Norbiton (13.6%) are the least used.
1f. Which children’s centre services do you use? (tick all that apply)
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Adult Learning

10.17%

73

2

Baby Massage

40.95%

294

3

Benefit advice

4.18%

30

4

Childcare advice

32.03%

230

5

Cook and Eat

9.19%

66

6

Domestic Violence support

1.39%

10

7

Early Years advice

30.50%

219

8

English as an Additional Language Sessions

1.67%

12

A15

Annex 1

9

Family Support worker support

4.04%

29

10 Foodbank Vouchers

2.51%

18

11 Health Visitor

66.16%

475

12 Holiday Activities

17.27%

124

13 JobCentre Plus Advice

1.67%

12

14 Messy Play

48.47%

348

15 Midwifery

34.12%

245

16 Parenting Programme

11.56%

83

17 Rhyme time

56.27%

404

18 Stay and Play

83.84%

602

19 Vitamins

10.58%

76

20 Other (please specify):

19.08%

137

answered

718

skipped

23

Analysis

Mean:

59.56

Std. Deviation:

104.99

Variance:

11022.53

Std. Error:

3.92

Satisfaction Rate:

287.9

The most popular services delivered at the children’s centres are Stay and Play (83.9%);
health visitors (66.2%); Rhyme Time (56.3%); Messy Play (48.5%); and baby massage
(40.9%).
Respondents were asked to leave comments about any other popular services that they
have attended. 137 comments were left (some gave multiple answers within their
comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were categorised and the most
popular categories were:
● Baby, Junior and Mama Jammers (27.0%);
● breastfeeding advice and support (20.4%); and

A16

Annex 1
● Crafty Tales (10.9%).
Jammers and Crafty Tales are sessions for babies and children run by external organisations.
The least popular services were domestic violence support (1.4%); English as a additional
language sessions (1.7%); JobCentre Plus advice (1.7%); foodbank vouchers (2.5%); and
benefit advice (4.2%).
1g. How important are the following children’s centre services to you?

Important

Neither
important
nor
unimportant

Unimportant

Very
unimportant

Response
Total

27.9%
(184)

22.6%
(149)

35.5%
(234)

8.8%
(58)

5.3%
(35)

660

Baby Massage

33.9%
(223)

35.9%
(236)

22.7%
(149)

4.6%
(30)

2.9%
(19)

657

Benefit advice

23.0%
(145)

21.2%
(134)

34.4%
(217)

10.9%
(69)

10.5%
(66)

631

Childcare advice

55.9%
(379)

30.8%
(209)

9.6%
(65)

2.1%
(14)

1.6%
(11)

678

Cook and Eat

23.0%
(145)

29.8%
(188)

36.6%
(231)

6.5%
(41)

4.1%
(26)

631

Domestic Violence support

33.1%
(208)

16.6%
(104)

32.2%
(202)

7.0%
(44)

11.1%
(70)

628

Early Years advice

60.9%
(413)

31.0%
(210)

6.8%
(46)

0.3%
(2)

1.0%
(7)

678

English as an Additional
Language Sessions

17.8%
(111)

19.5%
(122)

35.2%
(220)

11.0%
(69)

16.5%
(103)

625

Family Support worker support

28.1%
(177)

20.4%
(129)

32.6%
(206)

8.7%
(55)

10.1%
(64)

631

Foodbank Vouchers

23.5%
(146)

15.2%
(94)

36.6%
(227)

9.8%
(61)

14.8%
(92)

620

Health Visitor

75.5%
(520)

17.9%
(123)

4.5%
(31)

0.7%
(5)

1.5%
(10)

689

Holiday Activities

50.2%
(324)

29.6%
(191)

14.4%
(93)

3.6%
(23)

2.2%
(14)

645

JobCentre Plus Advice

17.2%
(107)

16.9%
(105)

42.6%
(265)

9.6%
(60)

13.7%
(85)

622

Messy Play

54.8%
(375)

36.3%
(248)

7.3%
(50)

0.6%
(4)

1.0%
(7)

684

Midwifery

64.7%
(428)

18.9%
(125)

11.6%
(77)

1.8%
(12)

3.0%
(20)

662

Parenting Programme

43.5%
(281)

29.4%
(190)

21.1%
(136)

3.4%
(22)

2.6%
(17)

646

Rhyme time

59.8%
(407)

31.7%
(216)

7.3%
(50)

0.4%
(3)

0.7%
(5)

681

Stay and Play

77.3%
(552)

20.3%
(145)

2.1%
(15)

0.0%
(0)

0.3%
(2)

714

Very
important

Adult Learning

A17

Annex 1
Vitamins

27.5%
(170)

25.2%
(156)

37.2%
(230)

4.8%
(30)

5.3%
(33)

619

Other (please specify below)

52.3%
(138)

8.3%
(22)

31.4%
(83)

2.3%
(6)

5.7%
(15)

264

answered

732

skipped

9

The most important services delivered were Stay and Play (97.6%); Health visitors (93.4%);
early years advice (91.9%); Messy Play (91.1%); and childcare advice (86.7%).
Respondents were asked to leave comments about any other important services that they
have attended. 134 comments were left (some gave multiple answers within their
comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were categorised and the most
popular categories were:
● Support (51.4%)
● Breastfeeding advice and support (37.8%)
● Jammers (37.8%)
Overall then, the support on offer at children’s centre was noted as important in 89.2% of
the comments that were left.
The services considered least important were English as an additional language (27.5%);
foodbank vouchers (24.6%); JobCentre Plus advice (23.3%); benefit advice (21.4%); and
family support worker support (18.8%).
Any other comments

1

Open-Ended Question

Response
Percent

Response
Total

100.00%

135

answered

135

skipped

606

Respondents were keen to emphasise the importance of the support and help provided at
the centres, the social and community aspects they provide and the play and development
opportunities.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 135 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were:
● Praising the level of support provided by children’s centres (68.6%)
● Praising the social and community aspects of children’s centres and the ability to
make friends and develop networks at a time that could isolating otherwise (39.0%)
● Praising the range and quality of play sessions offered at the children’s centres.

A18

Annex 1
In terms of the comments relating to the social and community aspects of children’s
centres, many respondents were keen to emphasis the positive impact the children’s
centres have had on their mental health and wellbeing.
1h. To what extent do you agree that accessing children’s centre services and activities has had a
positive impact on your own wellbeing and that of your child(ren)?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Strongly agree

90.03%

650

2

Agree

8.59%

62

3

Neither agree nor disagree

1.25%

9

4

Disagree

0.00%

0

5

Strongly disagree

0.14%

1

answered

722

skipped

19

Analysis

Mean:

1.12

Std. Deviation:

0.38

Variance:

0.14

Std. Error:

0.01

Satisfaction Rate:

2.91

98.6% of respondents stated that children’s centre services have had a positive impact on
wellbeing and that of children.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 188 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were:
● Praising the level of support and help provided by children’s centres (75.0%)
● Praising the social and community aspects of children’s centres (44.8%)
● Praising the range and quality of play develop opportunities offered at the children’s
centres (22.1%).
Again, as with the open text question above, in terms of the comments relating to the social
and community aspects of children’s centres, many respondents were keen to emphasis the
positive impact the children’s centres have had on their mental health and wellbeing.
1i. To what extent do you agree that attendance at Stay & Play sessions has helped you to know
more about how children learn through play?

1

Strongly agree

Response
Percent

Response
Total

70.42%

507

A19

Annex 1

2

Agree

22.22%

160

3

Neither agree nor disagree

6.94%

50

4

Disagree

0.42%

3

5

Strongly disagree

0.00%

0

answered

720

skipped

21

Analysis

Mean:

1.37

Std. Deviation:

0.63

Variance:

0.4

Std. Error:

0.02

Satisfaction Rate:

9.34

92.6% of respondents agreed (either strongly agree or agree) that Stay and Play sessions has
helped them to know more about how children learn through play. Only 7.4% disagreed. No
respondents strongly disagreed.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 90 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were that children’s centres:
● Had helped with interaction and confidence (23.9%).
● Had helped with socialisation for parents as well as children (18.5%).
● Had helped support development (16.3%).
A number of general positive comments were also left (33.7%). It is also worth noting that
7.2% of respondents stated they were not yet clear whether the children’s centres had had
any impact on them or their child or that the centres had had no impact on them.
1j. To what extent do you agree that attendance at Stay & Play sessions and others such as Rhyme
Time, Messy Play, etc have supported your child to develop in:
Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither
agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

Response
Total

Independence and social skills

80.6%
(579)

16.9%
(121)

2.5%
(18)

0.0%
(0)

0.0%
(0)

718

Communication and language
skills

77.6%
(553)

18.1%
(129)

4.3%
(31)

0.0%
(0)

0.0%
(0)

713

Physical skills

76.2%
(540)

19.9%
(141)

3.8%
(27)

0.1%
(1)

0.0%
(0)

709

answered

718

skipped

23

97.5% of respondents agreed that attendance at Stay and Play sessions and other such as
Rhyme Time, Messy Play, etc have helped their child to develop in independence and social
skills; 95.7% of respondents agreed that they helped their child develop communication and

A20

Annex 1
language skills; and 96.1% of respondents agreed that they helped their child develop
physical skills.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 92 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were that children’s centres:
● Provide access to facilities they would not be able to access otherwise(35.9%).
● Provide gradual introduction to nursery/ school (18.5%).
● Provide socialistation and advice for parents as well as children (17.4%).
A number of general positive comments were also left (17.4%).
1k. To what extent do you agree that attending children’s centre activities supports your child to be
ready for nursery or school?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Strongly agree

76.91%

553

2

Agree

19.75%

142

3

Neither agree nor disagree

3.20%

23

4

Disagree

0.14%

1

5

Strongly disagree

0.00%

0

answered

719

skipped

22

Analysis

Mean:

1.27

Std. Deviation:

0.52

Variance:

0.27

Std. Error:

0.02

Satisfaction Rate:

6.64

96.7% of respondents agreed (strongly agree or agree) that attending children’s centre
activities supports their child to be ready for nursery or school.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 92 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were that children’s centres:
● Supported their child’s development into nursery (41.3%).
● Supported socialisation (28.3%).
A number of other positive comments were also left (17.4%).
1l. To what extent do you agree that you can ask for support or advice relating to any issues such as
health, parenting skills, or employment and training from your local children’s centre?

A21

Annex 1
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Strongly agree

72.58%

524

2

Agree

22.44%

162

3

Neither agree nor disagree

4.43%

32

4

Disagree

0.42%

3

5

Strongly disagree

0.14%

1

answered

722

skipped

19

Analysis

Mean:

1.33

Std. Deviation:

0.59

Variance:

0.35

Std. Error:

0.02

Satisfaction Rate:

8.28

95.0% of respondents stated that they agreed they could ask for support advice relating to
issues such as health, parenting skills or employment and training from a children’s centre.
Respondents praised the support and advice that is given and the helpful and approachable
staff.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 75 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were that children’s centres provide:
● Good support and advice (44.0%).
● Approachable and helpful staff (21.3%).
1m. At the moment, how do you travel to the main children’s centre that you use?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Walk

86.69%

625

2

Cycle

1.11%

8

3

Drive

20.67%

149

4

Public transport

11.10%

80

5

Other (please specify):

1.53%

11

A22

Annex 1

Analysis

Mean:

2.03

Std. Deviation:

1.3

Variance:

1.68

Std. Error:

0.05

Satisfaction Rate:

20.46

answered

721

skipped

20

In terms of getting to the centres, 86.7% of respondents stated that they walked, with 20.7%
driving. Respondents emphasised the importance of being able to access local provision,
ideally by foot.
Eight respondents completed the ‘Other’ field. Of these:
● 50.0% walk;
● 37.5% drive; and
● 12.5% use public transport.
One comment noted the lack of available parking near children’s centres and the cost
pressures on parents.
1n. Any other comments:

1

Open-Ended Question

Response
Percent

Response
Total

100.00%

116

answered

116

skipped

625

Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 116 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most popular comments were;
●

Children’s centres provide vital support, advice and networking opportunities
(31.9%).
● It is extremely important to retain access to local children’s centre provision (31.8%).
● Foot access to local children’s centre provision is crucial (22.4%).
4. Proposals for the future of children's centres in Kingston
2a. To what extent do you agree with the proposals that have been set out above?

1

Strongly agree

Response
Percent

Response
Total

2.76%

20

A23

Annex 1

2

Agree

18.51%

134

3

Neither agree nor disagree

14.23%

103

4

Disagree

27.21%

197

5

Strongly disagree

37.29%

270

answered

724

skipped

17

Analysis

Mean:

3.78

Std. Deviation:

1.21

Variance:

1.45

Std. Error:

0.04

Satisfaction Rate:

69.44

64.5% of respondents do not agree with the proposals (strongly disagree/ disagree). 21.3%
agree (strongly agree/ agree) and 14.2% neither agree nor disagree.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 239 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most common comments were:
● Understanding the reasons for the proposals (16.7%).
● expressing that the proposals are unfair for people who cannot travel easily/ the
proposals will lead to increased isolation (15.5%).
● Disagree with the proposals and believe the council needs to re-prioritise (14.6%).
● Concerns that the remaining children’s centres too crowded (10.0%).
2b. Would the proposed changes make it more difficult for you to access children’s centre services?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Yes, definitely

46.41%

336

2

Yes, to some extent

29.97%

217

3

No

20.58%

149

4

Don’t know

3.04%

22

answered

724

skipped

17

Analysis

Mean:

1.8

Std. Deviation:

0.87

Variance:

0.75

Std. Error:

0.03

Satisfaction Rate:

26.75

A24

Annex 1

Just under half of respondents (46.6%) stated the proposals would definitely make it more
difficult to access children’s centre services. 29.9% stated it would make it more difficult to
some extent, 20.6% said it wouldn’t make it more difficult, and 3.0% said they did not know.
The main comments related to concerns about the capacity of remaining children’s centres
and the distance and time taken to travel to a children’s centre.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 137 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most common comments were concerns relating to:
● The capacity of the remaining centres to meet the increased need if four centres
closed (30.5%).
● The distance that may now need to be travelled to access a children’s centre
(28.4%).
● The addition travel time that may be required to access a children’s centre (27.3%).
2c. What impact do you think the proposed changes to services would have on you?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

No impact

17.00%

119

2

I would use another children’s centre in
the future

15.57%

109

3

I wouldn’t use children’s centres as
much in the future

51.71%

362

4

I wouldn’t use children’s centres at all
in the future

15.71%

110

answered

700

skipped

41

Analysis

Mean:

2.66

Std. Deviation:

0.94

Variance:

0.88

Std. Error:

0.04

Satisfaction Rate:

55.38

Just over half of the respondents (51.2%) stated that the changes would mean that they
would not use the children’s centres as much in the future and 15.7% stated they would no
use children’s centres at all. 17.0% of respondents the proposals said it would have no
impact at all and 15.6% said they would use another children’s centre in the future.
Concerns raised related to the capacity of the remaining centres and the required travel.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 161 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most common comments were concerns relating to:

A25

Annex 1
● The capacity of the remaining centres to meet the increased need if four centres
closed (22.9%).
● The addition travel time that may be required to access a children’s centre (27.3%).
22.4% of respondents stated that they did not think the changes would have any impact on
them.
2d. If you said that you would stop using services, or would use them less in the future, please can
you tell us why? (tick all that apply)
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Other locations don’t offer the
services that we need

24.23%

133

2

We are unable to travel to other
locations

44.63%

245

3

Opening times at other locations
don’t suit us

27.32%

150

4

We won’t know anyone

23.32%

128

5

We won’t get into other sessions as
they are too full

53.73%

295

6

Cost of travel

27.14%

149

7

Travel time

60.47%

332

8

Parking facilities

31.51%

173

9

Other (please specify):

8.38%

46

answered

549

skipped

192

Analysis

Mean:

14.71

Std. Deviation:

17.49

Variance:

305.98

Std. Error:

0.75

Satisfaction Rate:

146.29

Respondents said they would stop using children’s centres or use them less because of
additional travel travel (60.5%); sessions being too full (44.6%); and 44.6% said they would
be unable to travel to any other locations.
Respondents were asked to leave any other comments. 46 comments were left (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most common comments were concerns relating to:

A26

Annex 1
● The distance being too far to travel to another children’s centre (41.3%).
● The need for the familiarity of the existing provisions (13.0%).
● Other sessions at other centres being too full (10.9%).
2e. Please tell us if you have other ideas about how we should deliver children’s centre services in
Kingston:

1

Open-Ended Question

Response
Percent

Response
Total

100.00%

188

answered

188

skipped

553

Respondents were asked for comments about how else children’s centre services could be
sustained. 188 responses were received (some gave multiple answers within their
comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were categorised and the most
common comments included the following suggestions:
● Re-prioritising other council services (33.6%).
● Seek voluntary contributions (22.4%).
● Fundraising (21.6%).
2f. Any other comments:

1

Open-Ended Question

Response
Percent

Response
Total

100.00%

86

answered

86

skipped

655

Respondents were asked for any other comments and 86 responses were received (some
gave multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments
were categorised and the most common comments was to state that the centres and/ or
the respondents local centre should not be closed (34.9%). There was no significant
commonality between the other responses.
● Do not close the centres and/ or my local centre (34.9%).
5. Enhancing the children's centre offer
3a. The intention would be to redevelop our remaining children’s centres to offer a wider range of
services for families as well as children and young people. Do you agree with this proposal?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Strongly agree

17.08%

123

2

Agree

32.22%

232

A27

Annex 1

3

Neither agree nor disagree

20.56%

148

4

Disagree

17.36%

125

5

Strongly disagree

12.78%

92

answered

720

skipped

21

Analysis

Mean:

2.77

Std. Deviation:

1.28

Variance:

1.64

Std. Error:

0.05

Satisfaction Rate:

44.13

Just under half (49.4%) of respondents agreed with the proposals to re-develop the
remaining children’s centres to offer a wider range of services. 30.1% of respondents did not
agree.
3b. If we were to redevelop our children’s centres to offer more services for families as well as
children and young people in line with our proposal what do you think they should be called?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Children and Family Centres

46.48%

324

2

Children and Family Hubs

6.74%

47

3

Family Centres

20.66%

144

4

Family Hubs

6.31%

44

5

Family Wellbeing Centres

10.76%

75

6

Family Wellbeing Hubs

2.58%

18

7

Other (please specify):

6.46%

45

answered

697

skipped

44

Analysis

Mean:

2.62

Std. Deviation:

1.88

Variance:

3.54

Std. Error:

0.07

Satisfaction Rate:

26.95

A28

Annex 1
The most popular name for the new centres was ‘Children and Family Centres’ (46.5%),
followed by Family Centre (20.7%), and then Family Wellbeing Service (10.8%).
3c. If we were to expand the children’s centre offer in line with our proposal, which of the following
services would you like to see delivered in the remaining centres and outreach sites? (Tick all that
apply)
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Accredited learning for adults
on-site

26.32%

184

2

Activities for children aged 5-11
during school holidays

73.96%

517

3

Advice and guidance on financial
matters

30.04%

210

4

Careers advice, information and
guidance

26.04%

182

5

Expansion of support to children
aged between 0 to 11 (rather than
just 0 to 5)

61.95%

433

6

Family support drop in advice

58.37%

408

7

Healthy lifestyles - including
obesity, oral health, mental health
services

51.07%

357

8

Housing support advice on site

22.75%

159

9

Joint activities with libraries

51.36%

359

10

Joint activities with the Youth
Service

26.75%

187

11

Postnatal support and advice

75.25%

526

12

School nurse access

39.91%

279

13

Wider parenting programmes

50.79%

355

14

Other (please specify):

8.73%

61

answered

699

skipped

42

Analysis

Mean:

43.87

Std. Deviation:

90.37

Satisfaction Rate:

291.04

A29

Annex 1
Variance:

8167.05

Std. Error:

3.42

If the offer was to be expanded, respondents stated they would like the following services to
be delivered: activities for children aged five to 11 during school holidays (73.9%); postnatal
support and advice (75.3%); expansion of support to children aged between 0 to 11 (rather
than 0 to five) (61.9%); and family support drop in advice (58.9%).
3d. How important would these services be to you?
Very
important

Important

Neither
important or
unimportant

Unimportant

Very
unimportant

Response
Total

Accredited learning for adults
on site

15.2%
(101)

22.4%
(149)

33.3%
(221)

13.3%
(88)

15.8%
(105)

664

Activities for children aged 5-11
during school holidays

41.3%
(282)

37.6%
(257)

15.4%
(105)

4.1%
(28)

1.6%
(11)

683

Advice and guidance on
financial matters

14.4%
(95)

22.4%
(148)

37.0%
(245)

13.7%
(91)

12.5%
(83)

662

Careers advice, information and
guidance

13.1%
(86)

21.6%
(142)

37.0%
(243)

13.9%
(91)

14.3%
(94)

656

Expansion of provision to
children aged between 0 to 11

40.9%
(276)

37.0%
(250)

18.1%
(122)

3.1%
(21)

0.9%
(6)

675

Family support drop in advice

33.3%
(220)

40.0%
(264)

18.5%
(122)

4.8%
(32)

3.3%
(22)

660

Healthy lifestyles - including
obesity, oral health, mental
health services

27.9%
(186)

37.9%
(253)

22.3%
(149)

6.3%
(42)

5.5%
(37)

667

Housing support advice on site

14.7%
(96)

16.3%
(106)

37.6%
(245)

14.9%
(97)

16.6%
(108)

652

Joint activities with libraries

26.0%
(174)

45.7%
(305)

22.0%
(147)

3.7%
(25)

2.5%
(17)

668

Joint activities with the Youth
Service

15.8%
(103)

33.1%
(216)

35.9%
(234)

8.1%
(53)

7.1%
(46)

652

Postnatal support and advice

55.0%
(368)

32.0%
(214)

8.8%
(59)

2.5%
(17)

1.6%
(11)

669

School nurse access

24.6%
(161)

38.8%
(254)

25.5%
(167)

7.2%
(47)

4.0%
(26)

655

Wider parenting programmes

32.3%
(214)

39.6%
(262)

20.4%
(135)

4.8%
(32)

2.9%
(19)

662

answered

702

skipped

39

Of the suggested services, postnatal support and advice was considered the most important
(87.0%); followed by activities for children aged 5-11 during school holidays (78.9%);
expansion of provision to children aged between 0 and 11 (77.9%); family drop in support
service (73.3%); wider parenting programmes (71.9%); and joint activities with libraries
(71.7%).

A30

Annex 1

The least important services were: housing support advice on site (31.5%); accredited
learning for adults on site (29.1%); careers advice, information and guidance (28.2%); and
advice and guidance on financial matters (26.2%).
3e. Another way to enable us to continue to deliver as many children's centre services as possible
would be to ask for donations for some services. Would you be willing to contribute a small
donation to access services at children’s centres? For example, £2.50 per family to attend Baby
Massage, Messy Play, Stay and Play, or holiday activities. Please note, the contribution would not
be applied to sessions delivered by our partners such as adult learning, health-led activities.
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Yes

95.77%

680

2

No

4.23%

30

answered

710

skipped

31

Analysis

Mean:

1.04

Std. Deviation:

0.2

Variance:

0.04

Std. Error:

0.01

Satisfaction Rate:

4.23

95.8% of respondents stated they would be happy to pay a voluntary contribution to access
some services. Just 4.2% stated they would not be.
3f. Please tell us if you have other suggestions for services you would like to be delivered in the
enhanced children’s centre service.

1

Open-Ended Question

Response
Percent

Response
Total

100.00%

131

answered

131

skipped

610

Respondents were asked for any other suggestions for services they would like to be
delivered in the enhanced children’s centre service. 131 response were received (some gave
multiple answers within their comments). Using a word analysis tool, the comments were
categorised and the most common comments were:
● Attendees either already pay and would be happy to continue to pay or would pay
more to help sustain services (33.7%).
● More activities should be offered for babies and children (28.8%).
● More early intervention services should be offered (breastfeeding, health visitors,
mental health) (17.3%).
3g. Any other comments:

A31

Annex 1

1

Open-Ended Question

Response
Percent

Response
Total

100.00%

69

answered

69

skipped

672

Response
Percent

Response
Total

19%

135

6. Your details
4a. First part of your postcode only (eg. KT1, TW11).

KT6

Surbiton, Tolworth

KT2

Kingston, Canbury, Coombe, Norbiton

18.3%

130

KT3

New Malden, Motspur Park

15.2%

108

KT5

Berrylands, Surbiton, Tolworth

13.8%

98

KT9

Chessington, Hook

13.5%

96

KT1

Kingston, Hampton Wick, Norbiton

12.4%

88

KT4

Old Malden

1.8%

13

3%

21

answered

710

skipped

31

Other

Various out of borough postcodes

Analysis of the postcodes of respondents shows a representative spread across the borough.
The Surbiton and Tolworth areas (which include KT6 and KT5 postcodes) were particularly
well represented.
4b. Your age
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

15-24

0.97%

7

2

25-34

34.95%

252

3

35-44

53.68%

387

4

45-54

6.38%

46

5

55+

3.19%

23

A32

Annex 1

6

Prefer not to say

Analysis

Mean:

2.78

Std. Deviation:

0.78

Variance:

0.61

Std. Error:

0.03

Satisfaction Rate:

35.67

0.83%

6

answered

721

skipped

20

Of the respondents, 53.7% were aged 35-44; 34.9% aged 25-34; 6.4% aged 45-54; 3.2% aged
55+; 0.9% aged 15-24; and 0.8% preferred not to say.
4c. Your gender
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Male

6.36%

46

2

Female

91.98%

665

3

Prefer not to say

1.66%

12

answered

723

skipped

18

Analysis

Mean:

1.95

Std. Deviation:

0.28

Variance:

0.08

Std. Error:

0.01

Satisfaction Rate:

47.65

6.4% of respondents were male, 91.9% were female; and 1.7% preferred not to say.
4d. Your ethnicity
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

White or White British

78.36%

565

2

Black or Black British

0.97%

7

3

Asian or Asian British

7.91%

57

4

Sri Lankan / Tamil

0.97%

7

5

Mixed / Mixed British

2.77%

20

A33

Annex 1

6

Any other ethnic background

4.85%

35

7

Korean

0.14%

1

8

Prefer not to say

4.02%

29

answered

721

skipped

20

Analysis

Mean:

1.84

Std. Deviation:

1.84

Variance:

3.39

Std. Error:

0.07

Satisfaction Rate:

12.01

78.4% of respondents were White British; 7.9% were Asian; 4.9% were any other ethnic
background; 2.8% were mixed/ mixed British; 0.9% were Black or Black British; 0.9% were
Sri Lankan/ Tamil; 0.4% were Korean; and 4.0% preferred not to say.
4e. Do you consider yourself to have a disability?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Yes

1.95%

14

2

No

95.69%

688

3

Prefer not to say

2.36%

17

answered

719

skipped

22

Analysis

Mean:

2

Std. Deviation:

0.21

Variance:

0.04

Std. Error:

0.01

Satisfaction Rate:

50.21

95.7% of respondents stated they do not have a disability; 1.9% stated they do have a
disability; and 2.4% preferred not to say.
4f. Do you consider your child to have a disability?
Response
Percent

Response
Total

1

Yes

2.67%

19

2

No

94.94%

676

3

Prefer not to say

2.39%

17

A34

Annex 1

Analysis

Mean:

2

Std. Deviation:

0.22

Variance:

0.05

Std. Error:

0.01

Satisfaction Rate:

49.86

answered

712

skipped

29

94.9% of respondents stated their child did not have a disability; 2.7% stated their child did
have a disability; and 2.4% preferred not to say.

A35

ANNEX 2
Equality Assessment (EA)- DRAFT
Service Area:
Name of service/ function/ policy/
project being assessed:
Officer leading on assessment:
Other staff involved:

Early Help
Children’s Centre Strategy in Kingston
Henry Kilpin, Head of Strategy and Programmes
Pauline Maddison, Director for Children’s ServicesKingston; Ivana Price, Associate Director for Family
and Youth Support; Sarah Reid, Head of Children,
Youth and Partnerships; Francis Arokiasamy, Kingston
Equalities Lead

BACKGROUND
1. Briefly describe the service/ function/ policy/ project:
Summary
Achieving for Children have been working with Kingston Council to develop a proposed new
children’s centre strategy for children’s centre delivery in Kingston. This is necessary due to
the challenging financial situation- both locally and nationally- and a desire to ensure the
most vulnerable families receive targeted support.
Achieving for Children presented a number of proposals to the Kingston Children’s and
Adults’ Care and Education Committee on 20 September 2018. These proposals then
formed the basis for a public consultation exercise (details outlined in section 6). Following
this feedback, and discussions between Achieving for Children and Kingston Council,
amendments have been made to the final proposals which will be considered by elected
members on 21 March 2019 at the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee.
The proposals are to:
1. review delivery of Norbiton and Surbiton Children’s Centres by June 2019 and
provide service delivery through an outreach approach within local communities at
Dickerage Youth centre and within the Surbiton area (see point (3) below);
2. review delivery of North Kingston and New Malden Children’s Centres by April
2020, using a phased approach to reducing children’s centre activities to target
those in most need, whilst taking an account of the needs of the local communities
to support the transition to a new model of delivery;
3. strengthen the outreach provision specifically from the following locations:
●
●
●
●

Kingsnympton;
Dickerage Youth Centre;
Cambridge Road Estate; and
Surbiton area.

1

A36

ANNEX 2
In developing this new model, the children’s centre workforce will be redesigned into a
borough based delivery model as set out in the strategy and the following key actions
arising from the consultation feedback will be implemented:
(a) prioritise the services identified as popular and important.
(b) work with health partners, such as health visiting and midwifery, to ensure
there continues to be a good offer of health services available to families.
(c) continue to explore the potential to extend the range of venues and sites to
deliver children’s centre activities.
(d) pilot an extension of the range of provision for children aged 5-11 years old
during school holidays.
(e) work with the Parent Forums attached to children’s centres to identify
income generating opportunities.
(f) rebrand the children’s centres into children and family centres.
Background
Local authorities have a statutory duty to ensure there are sufficient children’s centre
services to meet the needs of children aged 0-4 and their families as detailed in the
following Acts/ legislation:
● SureStart Statutory Guidance 2013.
● The Childcare Act 2006.
● Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act (ASCL) 2009 which inserted new
provisions into the Childcare Act 2006.
● Safeguarding (references to existing legislation and guidance).
The statutory definition of a children’s centre is:
● a place or group of places:
○ which is managed by or on behalf of, or under arrangements with, the local
authority with a view to securing that early childhood services in the local
authority’s area are made available in an integrated way;
○ through which early childhood services are made available (either by
providing the services on site, or by providing advice and assistance on
gaining access to services elsewhere); and
○ at which activities for young children are provided.
It follows from the statutory definition of a children’s centre that they are as much about
making appropriate and integrated services available, as it is about providing premises in
particular geographical areas.
The challenging financial situation, both nationally and locally, requires a new way of
working to ensure the children’s centre are able to continue to deliver a high quality offer.
As such, Achieving for Children is proposing a review and rationalisation of existing
children’s centres, helping us to maximise resources and target our most vulnerable
families in the most deprived communities in Kingston. The offer will focus on:
● child development and school readiness;
● parenting aspirations and parenting skills; and

2

A37

ANNEX 2
● child and family health and life chances.
This will be achieved by:
● maximising the reach of the children’s centre offer through more flexible
approaches to service delivery and rationaising children centre buildings.
● enhancing outreach work to engage hard to reach families and deliver programmes
from a range of local community venues.
● focusing children’s centres activities on the most vulnerable families.
● adopting an approach whereby outreach work within the community is prioritised
without necessarily the presence of an administrative children’s centre base.
● increase the use of children’s centres as community hubs through the co-location of
services.
● re-energise partnership working and integration with key partners to deliver a wide
offer.
● maximise integration and links with existing early years services to children’s
centres.
● create efficiencies through rationalisation of buildings, removing duplication and
removing management costs.
Context
As noted above, local authorities have a statutory duty to deliver children’s centre services,
and are required to make available universal and targeted early childhood services either
by providing the services at centres or by providing advice and assistance to parents
(mothers and fathers) via signposting or outreach. The core purpose of children’s centres is
to improve outcomes for young children and their families and reduce inequalities between
families in greatest need and their peers.
Children’s centres are designated with the Department of Education (DfE) and as such are
subject to Ofsted inspection. In July 2015, Ofsted issued a notice indicating its intention to
review the inspection of children’s centres, suspending any inspections until further notice.
To date, there has been no further communication from Ofsted on its future inspection
intentions.
Any proposed change of the use of a designated children’s centre (i.e. decommissioning a
children’s centre facility), all local authorities need to submit de-designation request to the
DfE. This de-designation could be subject to claw-back of any capital funds reviewed unless
the local authority can demonstrate the building will continue to be used by young
children.
National context
Nationally, local authorities are facing a significant financial challenge to meet demand
within resources. According to a recent National Audit Office Study
(https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/) , Sure
Start budgets, which are used to fund children’s centres, were reduced by £763m (50%)
between 2010 and 2017 as councils have focused scarce funds on meeting a growth in
demand for child protection services.

3

A38

ANNEX 2
Furthermore, a Sutton Trust study
(https://www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/news/2005120/as-many-as-1-000-childrens-centres-nowclosed-study-finds) has suggested that 1,000 children’s centres have shut since 2010, with a
fifth of local authorities considering reducing their children’s centre provision and a third
considering a reduction in services at, or access to, children’s centres.
The majority of Kingston’s statistical neighbours have already reduced or proposed a
reduction in children’s centre provision. This is set out in the table below:
Local Authority

% children centres closures (2009-10 to 2018)

Barnet

7.7% reduction

Bracknell Forest

Reduction in hours

Oxfordshire

80.0% reduction (proposed)

Reading

69.2% reduction

Surrey

71.0% reduction (proposed)

Sutton

21.0% reduction

The proposed reduction in Kingston (25-50%) is within range of the estimated national level
of closures (34.8%) and significantly lower than some other local authorities such as
Oxfordshire, Surrey and Reading. It is also worth noting that by 2017, 16 councils had
closed at least half of their children’s centres, which accounted for 55% of the total number
of closures nationally. Further reductions are expected in many local authority areas due to
the continuing financial challenge.
In addition, the national policy on future of children’s centres has paused
(https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7257). In July
2016, the all Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) on Children’s Centres published a report on
Family Hubs, arguing that these should be incorporated into existing centres as part of the
Government’s Life Chances Strategy. However, in December 2016, it was announced that
the Government would no longer be publishing a Life Chances Strategy.
It is within this difficult context that Achieving for Children has proposed the review and
rationalisation of current children’s centre provision in Kingston.
Current provision and service model
The delivery of children’s centres provision is currently organised into three clusters across
Kingston and Richmond and delivered through a range of children’s centres, community
centres, libraries and primary schools, as well as outreach provision. The table below sets
out the children’s centre and the target reach population of children age 0-4 set per cluster
in relation to Kingston:
Cluster
South

Children’s Centres
●

Chessington

4

Reach Area Number
7,921

A39

ANNEX 2

North East

●
●
●
●

New Malden
Old Malden
Surbiton
Tolworth

●
●
●

Kingston Town
North Kingston
Norbiton- Hub

3,773

There are also outreach sites at the Cambridge Road Estate, Dickerage Road and
Kingsnympton. Closer working with Kingston Council and other key partners to co-locate
services will provide greater emphasis for multi-agency hubs in the areas where they are
most needed.
The map below sets out the location of each of the existing children’s centres/ hubs:

5

A40

ANNEX 2
The table below illustrates the current children’s centre offer against the three key focus
areas:
Focus area
Child Development and
school readiness

Current offer
●
●

●
●
●
●
Parenting aspirations and
parenting skills

●

●
●
●

Child and family health
and life chances

●
●
●
●
●
●

A range of early years provision including learning based activities,
information and guidance in child development including early
identification of need.
Early Years Foundation Stage based high quality Stay and Play
sessions (universal) which are open access to all eligible families with
children aged 0-4 and targeted sessions for specifically identified
groups such as those that are isolated or those with English as an
Additional Language (EAL). All sessions are delivered by a skilled
workforce including Children’s Centre staff and partners such as
JobCentre Plus, Domestic Violence, Health Visiting teams, parenting
programmes.
Tracking identified children – monitoring development to support
development towards achieving key milestones and preparing them
for school.
Referral to specialist services where identified.
Accessible support within local communities.
Universal and targeted groups.
Training and employment services to assist parents or prospective
parents, including, opportunities to volunteer, access to JobCentre
Plus support workers, Adult Learning opportunities including basic
Maths, English, EAL, and accredited courses to aid employment.
Access to family support service offer for those families with
additional needs that require Early Help.
Access to a wide range of parenting programmes such as Family
Links, Early Bird, Triple P.
Information and advice services for parents and prospective parents,
signposting to partner services including Voluntary Sector partners.
Health services relating to young children, parents and prospective
parents, which include co-location of Health Visiting Services and,
midwifery teams in Children’s Centres.
Drop in and bookable Health Visiting appointments.
Universal clinics open to all eligible families with no appointment
necessary.
Access to Post Natal Depression support
Referrals to specialist health services as required.
Access to information, advice and guidance on health issues such as
sleep, weaning, breastfeeding support, vitamins, healthy eating,
emotional health.

Registration and inspection outcomes
There are 11,694 children eligible for children’s centre services and support in Kingston. Of
these, 10,201 are currently registered (87.2%). To be deemed ‘good’ in an Ofsted
inspection we require a minimum of 80% registered, to be ‘outstanding’ this figure is 97%.
The current Ofsted grades are set out below:
Area

2016

2017

6

A41

ANNEX 2
Maldens and Coombe
(New Malden and Old
Malden Children’s
Centres)

Good

Surbiton and Tolworth
(Surbiton and Tolworth
Children’s Centres)

Good

South of the Borough
(Chessington Children’s
Centre)

Good with
Outstanding elements

North Kingston and
Kingston Town
(Norbiton, North
Kingston and Kingston
Town Children’s
Centres)

Good

South
Cluster

Good with
Outstanding elements

North East Cluster –
Kingston

Requires Improvement

Hard to reach - the most vulnerable families
Children’s centres monitor registration and access of all service users. This includes closely
monitoring target groups who are considered disadvantaged or most in need and those
living in areas of identified deprivation such as Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs). Analysis
of this monitoring data allows trends to be identified at a local community level and then
provision can be adjusted to meet needs.
There are 2,647 hard to reach children registered with a children’s centre in Kingston. Of
those, 1,220 regularly engaged with children’s centre services. Our largest cohort of hard to
reach groups are lone parents. Other target groups include those families living in areas of
identified deprivation, those on low incomes who are unemployed and affected by
Universal Credit, and families of disadvantaged two year olds who are eligible for two year
old funding.
The proposed model will sustain the current levels of engagement with hard to reach
groups through outreach, in those areas with the greatest level of deprivation.
Governance and partnerships
There are clear governance arrangements in place to ensure children’s centres are
strategically well led and operationally managed, maximising the use of resources and
partnership working.
Children’s centres work collaboratively with the following partners (note this is not an
exhaustive list):
●
●
●
●

●
●

Schools
PVI settings – Early Years Providers
Health Visiting Providers, Your Health Care
(RBK) Central London Community
Healthcare
Midwifery services – Kingston Hospital

●
●

7

Homestart – Commissioned Service
Adult Learning Providers – Kingston &
Richmond
Achieving for Children Early Help Service
Contact Supervision
Adoption Services

A42

ANNEX 2
●

●
●

Speech and Language
JobCentre Plus – Central and via
Strengthening Families Advisors

Libraries
Domestic Abuse support – Refuge

Detailed proposals for children’s centre provision in Kingston
In the proposals that were presented as part of the public consultation, four children’s
centres were selected for decommissioning for the following reasons:
Children’s
Centre

Reason

Norbiton

Lowest number of exclusive users; regular users mainly access only health services
which can be provided at alternative clinical sites within close proximity; parent and
child sessions can be delivered at nearby outreach sites i.e. Dickerage Lane Youth Centre
(which is less than 0.1 miles away); and within 1.2 miles of Kingston Town Children’s
Centre

Surbiton

One of the smaller centres so no capacity for expansion; reduction in footfall over
previous years (although some of this is attributable to parts of building being used by
other services and a smaller workforce); outreach sites to include the nearby nursery
which is less than 0.1 miles away from the current site; and within 0.9 miles of Tolworth
Children’s Centre

North Kingston

Not located in or near a deprived area; footfall information suggests not one of the most
used centres (although this differs from the consultation findings); regular users mainly
access midwifery services which can be provided at nearby centres and clinical settings;
and 1.5 miles to Kingston Town Children’s Centre

New Malden

It is 1.6 miles to Old Malden Children’s Centre which continues to offer a programme of
activities including access to health services, and English as an Additional Language.
There has already been a reduction in the programme since children’s centre services
have been remodelled into clusters

The proposal is to retain Chessington, Kingston Town, Old Malden and Tolworth Children’s
Centres.
In the context of the financial position in Kingston, the continued occupation of eight main
children’s centre sites across the borough is unsustainable in terms of finances and the staff
resource to offer a full range of services. With this in mind it is proposed to approach the
remodelling of the provision as referenced in the recommendations above.
Next steps
Should the proposals be agreed, the next steps would be to:
● develop a detailed implementation plan including undertaking staff consultation in
relation to reductions in the children’s centre workforce;
● publish the consultation findings; and
● develop a communications plan to communicate the implementation plan to
parents, carers, children and young people, and key stakeholders and partners.
2. Why is the equality assessment being undertaken?

8

A43

ANNEX 2
The equality assessment is being undertaken to better understand the impact of the
proposals included in the Children’s Centre Strategy for Kingston so that Councillors are fully
informed prior to decision-making.
3. What sources of information have been used in the preparation of this equality
assessment? (e.g national research, local needs assessment, user feedback) Please
provide the details in the table below:
Information source

Children’s Centre Strategy
Report for Children’s and
Adults’ Care and
Education Committee- 20
September 2018
Children’s Centre Strategy
public consultation
findings- February 2019
Kingston Children’s
Centre data
Stop Start: Survival,
decline or closure?
Children’s centres in
England, 2018- The Sutton
Trust
The impact of children’s
centres: studying the
effects of children's
centres in promoting
better outcomes for
young children and their
families- Department for
Education
Disability and Poverty,
New Policy Institute, 2016

Description and outline of the information source

Report setting out the Achieving for Children proposals for
children’s centre provision in Kingston.

The findings from the public consultation exercise seeking
views on the proposals for children’s centres in Kingston.
Data relating to children’s centre usage in Kingston.
Report outlining the current approach to the provision of
children’s centre across the country:
https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/S
topStart-FINAL.pdf
Report setting out the results of a study of the impact of
children’s centres:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/485346/DFE-RR495_Eva
luation_of_children_s_centres_in_England__the_impact_of_c
hildren_s_centres.pdf

A report by the New Policy Institute setting out the links
between disability and poverty. A summary can be found here:
https://www.npi.org.uk/files/7414/7087/2444/Disability_and_
poverty_SUMMARY_REPORT_FINAL.pdf

ANALYSIS OF IMPACT
4. Assess the relevance of each protected characteristic group to the service/ function/
policy/ project and explain what the data, customer feedback, complaints or discussions
with stakeholder groups tells you about the impact.
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●

How well are diverse needs met?
Have any differences in access to services/functions been identified for any group?
Has the area identified any disadvantages experienced by groups, which need to be
addressed?
Have there been any complaints about a failure to receive an appropriate and fair service?

9

A44

ANNEX 2
●
●
●
●

Is there any other evidence of differential impact or different outcomes which needs to be
addressed?
Is there any evidence that participation in areas of public life is disproportionately low for any
particular relevant protected characteristic group?
Have the needs of disabled people been identified and addressed where these are different
from the needs of non-disabled people?
Have you identified any need to tackle prejudice or promote understanding between different
relevant protected characteristic groups?

Remember that equality assessment is not simply about identifying and removing negative effects
of discrimination but it is also an opportunity to identify ways to advance equality of opportunity
and to foster good relations.

The data presented in the equality assessment below is for the period January 2018 to
December 2018 and comes from the Kingston Children’s Centre dataset.
It considers the impact of decommissioning the four centres as set out in the proposals in
the public consultation.
Protected Group
Findings
Data
Data relating to the age of parents and carers is not routinely
collected. However, data relating to younger parents is
gathered. It shows that there were 21 families with a teenage
parent (19 years old and younger) and 243 families with a
young parent (20 to 24 years old) who accessed children’s
centre services.
Of these, nine families with a teenage parent and 113 families
with a young parent attended the children’s centres that may
be decommissioned over the next 24 months.

Age

Available attendance data also shows how many people,
including children, have used the centres. Given that centres
are aimed at children aged 0 to five, the assumption can be
made that children in attendance are in that age bracket.
It shows that there were 11,979 individuals who attended
children’s centres across Kingston and 5,427 children. In total,
5,777 families were in attendance.
Tolworth, Kingston Town, and Chessington had the highest
number of families in attendance. Norbiton, New Malden , and
North Kingston had the lowest number of families in
attendance.
291 families attending outreach sessions and 613 attended
locality wide activities.
The data in the table below set out the number of children
attending the centres included in the proposals:

10

A45

ANNEX 2
Children’s centre

Number of children

Norbiton

369

Surbiton

846

New Malden

641

North Kingston

839

In terms of the age of those who completed the online survey:
●
●
●
●
●
●

53.7% aged 35-44;
34.9% aged 25-34;
6.4% aged 45-54;
3.2% aged 55+;
0.9% aged 15-24; and
0.8% preferred not to say.

Impact
Given that children’s centre provision is aimed at children aged
0-5, the proposals will undoubtedly impact on this age group.
Should the proposals be approved, there would be a direct
impact on the children who attend Norbiton, Surbiton, New
Malden and North Kingston’s children’s centres when they are
decommissioned. There is not likely to be any impact on those
children who attend the other centres or outreach/ locality
wide activities. The service will work with any families who
may attend children’s centres that could be decommissioned
to identify alternative venues to access services- either in
other centres or in outreach sites.

Disability

As part of the public consultation, respondents were asked
what services they would be interested in being delivered. A
number of the preferred options related to expanding the
offer from 0 to five to support children aged 0 to 11 during
school holidays. If the proposals are approved, this will be
considered and is likely to have a positive impact on children
aged six to 11.
Data
The data shows that 70 families with disabled children and 43
families with a disabled parent/ carer accessed children’s
centre services.
In terms of the disability status of those who completed the
online survey:

11

A46

ANNEX 2
● 95.7% of respondents stated they do not have a
disability; 1.9% stated they do have a disability; and
2.4% preferred not to say.
● 94.9% of respondents stated their child did not have a
disability; 2.7% stated their child did have a disability;
and 2.4% preferred not to say.
Impact
The children’s centre offer will continue to provide support for
families with children with special needs. The service will work
with any families who may attend children’s centres that could
be decommissioned to identify alternative accessible venues
to attend sessions- either in other centres or in outreach sites.
This will take into account any mobility issues relating to the
parent or child.
Given the established link between disability and poverty
(research in 2016 indicates that half of people in poverty are
disabled or live with a disabled person), the strengthened
focus on the most vulnerable families and hard to reach
families is likely to have a positive impact on those families
with a parent or carer who has a disability.
The public consultation also highlighted that new parents
value the support provided by children’s centres to help with
any potential mental health issues arising from the difficulties
of looking after babies and small children. This support will
continue under the proposals.
Data
The data shows that of those parents/ carers attending the
children’s centres, 87.0% are female and 13.0% are male. In
terms of the children who attend, 49.0% are female and 51.0%
are male.
In terms of the gender of those who completed the online
survey, 91.9% of respondents were female, 6.4% were male,
and 1.7% preferred not to say.
Gender (Sex)

This suggests that slightly more female users completed the
survey.
Impact
Given that services are predominantly taken up by women as
the primary carers, any impact is more likely to be felt by
females. It is worth noting however that fathers are actively
encouraged to engage in services and additional groups for
fathers are run. The service will work with any families who
may attend children’s centres that could be decommissioned

12

A47

ANNEX 2
to identify alternative venues to access services- either in
other centres or in outreach sites.
Data
The children’s centres do not collect information relating to
gender reassignment.

Gender reassignment

Impact
Gender reassignment is considered of low relevance to this
equality assessment. However this will be kept under review.
In addition, there will be an expectation that children’s centre
staff have an understanding of transgender and gender
identity when working with users accessing children’s centre
provision.
Data
The children’s centres do not collect information relating to
marriage and civil partnership.

Marriage and civil
partnership

Impact
Marriage and civil partnership is considered of low relevance
to this equality assessment. However this will be kept under
review.
Data
Midwifery services are run at the main children’s centre sites
in Kingston. The level of midwifery provision is different at
different sites and is down to the organisation of the individual
midwifery teams and not under the control of the children’s
centres.
The data shows that 2,001 families attended children’s centre
services to access midwifery services.
There will also be a significant number who attend children’s
centres to access postnatal services such as breastfeeding
support or a health visiting team.

Pregnancy and maternity
Impact
Children’s centre provision is considered to be of high
relevance to pregnancy and maternity given the focus of
services delivered. For example, the following services are
delivered to families:
● Health services relating to young children, parents and
prospective parents, which include co-location of
Health Visiting Services and, midwifery teams in
Children’s Centres.
● Drop in and bookable Health Visiting appointments.
● Universal clinics open to all eligible families with no
appointment necessary.

13

A48

ANNEX 2
● Access to Post Natal Depression support
● Referrals to specialist health services as required.
● Access to information, advice and guidance on health
issues such as sleep, weaning, breastfeeding support,
vitamins, healthy eating, emotional health.
The public consultation responses demonstrated how popular
these services are to users- particularly health visiting and
breastfeeding support.
If the proposals are approved, children’s centre provision will
continue to be focused on delivering services to expectant or
new parents. It may be however, services will be accessed via
outreach or community venues rather than children’s centres.
Data
The ethnicity of children’s centre attendees is set out in the
table below:
Ethnicity

Percentage

Asian
Black
Mixed
White
Other
Not known/ refused

Race/ethnicity

13.40%
2.10%
7.00%
65.60%
2.80%
9.30%

65.6% of attendees at children’s centres are White (all White
categories including White Irish, White Traveller of Irish
Heritage, White Any Other Background, and White Gypsy/
Roma). 49.2% of attendees at children’s centres are White
British.
25.3% of users are from a Black, Asian, or Minority Ethnic
(BAME) background (the ethnicity of 9.3% of users is not
known or the request for the information was refused). 49.2%
of attendees at children’s centres are White British.
In Kingston as a whole, 31.0% of all residents in Kingston are
from a BAME background (68.1% are White (including all
White groups) and 54.2% are White British). Between 2011
and 2017, the proportion of Kingston’s resident population
from BAME groups has increased from 25.0% to 31.0%, and
this growth is expected to continue to 46.0% in 2036.
Kingston’s younger population are more diverse than the
population as a whole with 39.0% of those aged 0-19
(compared to 31.0% in all age groups). There has been a rise in

14

A49

ANNEX 2
the 0-19 population between 2011 and 2017 of over 6,000 and
the projections for 2026 predict further growth of 5,000.
In comparison then,children’s centres attendees are slightly
less diverse than the overall population and significantly less
diverse than the 0-19 population.
The ethnicity of users of the children’s centres proposed for
decommissioning is set out in the table below:
Ethnicity

Norbiton

Surbiton

New
Malden

North
Kingston

Asian
Black
Mixed
White
Other
Not known/
refused
% Total
BAME (Asian,
Black, Mixed,
and Other)

17.90%
1.00%
7.90%
58.10%
6.60%
8.60%

12.40%
1.40%
6.40%
68.60%
1.30%
10.20%

26.70%
2.20%
7.80%
51.40%
7.60%
4.30%

10.30%
0.70%
7.10%
60.10%
2.00%
19.80%

33.4%

21.5%

44.3%

20.1%

There are a higher percentage of BAME attendees at New
Malden Children’s Centre. This is attributable to the large
Korean/ Tamil population in this area.
In terms of the ethnicity of those who completed the online
survey:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

78.4% of respondents were White British;
7.9% were Asian;
4.9% were any other ethnic background;
2.8% were mixed/ mixed British;
0.9% were Black or Black British;
0.9% were Sri Lankan/ Tamil;
0.4% were Korean; and
4.0% preferred not to say.

This suggests that a higher proportion of White British users of
the children’s centre responded to the survey than those from
a BAME background. This may be because some of the hard to
reach groups, who may be from a BAME background, did not
participate in the survey. A range of methods were used to try
to engage with a wide range of service users including those
from BAME backgrounds. For example, translation support
was offered and targeted user group sessions were held with

15

A50

ANNEX 2
communities local to specific areas such as the Korean
community in New Malden.
However, as stated earlier in this assessment, it is not possible
to be completely satisfied that the consultation findings are
fully representative of the needs of hard to reach families.
Therefore it is proposed to undertake further localised
consultation planning activity.
Impact
The analysis above suggests there may potentially be an
impact on service users from across different ethnic
backgrounds. In particular, the detailed analysis of users at
each of the centres proposed for decommissioning shows that
the New Malden centre has a significant Asian/ Any Other
Ethnic background population. Achieving for Children will have
to ensure that the service works with any families from a
Korean/ Tamil background in a culturally sensitive way to
ensure they are still able to access services at other centres or
at outreach sites should the proposals be implemented.
Further localised consultation will be undertaken to ensure
there are opportunities for all service users to contribute,
including hard to reach groups.
More generally, children’s centre services will continue to be
delivered in such a way that the needs of families from diverse
ethnic backgrounds can be met, based on demographic
information in the local area.
Data
Data relating to religion and belief is not collected by the
children’s centres.

Religion and belief
including non-belief

Sexual orientation

Impact
Religion and belief is considered to be of low relevance to the
children’s centre proposals. However this will be kept under
review.
The centres are open to all religious backgrounds and
children’s centre staff are expected to understand and respect
a range of religions and beliefs and what they may mean for
families i.e. diet. Achieving for Children will continue to take
into account the use of certain local buildings for outreach
services in relation to religion to ensure people do not feel
unable to take part.
Data
Data relating to sexual orientation is not collected by the
children’s centres.
Impact

16

A51

ANNEX 2
Sexual orientation is considered to be of low relevance to the
children’s centre proposals. However this will be kept under
review.
In addition, there will be an expectation that children’s centre
staff have an understanding and respect the sexual orientation
of users of the children’s centres.
Data
The data shows of the families that accessed children’s centre
provision:

Other characteristics

● 356 were lone parent families;
● 228 were families from a workless household; and
● 638 were families who receive benefits.
Impact
By targeting services on vulnerable families in or close to the
areas of deprivation in the borough, children’s centre
provision should continue to be accessible by those who most
need support. This may include lone parent families, families
from a workless household and families who receive benefits.

5. Summarise the key findings of the equality assessments of impact- have you identified
any data gaps in relation to the relevant protected characteristics and relevant parts of
the duty?
Other questions to consider:
●
●
●
●
●

Are there findings of unlawful discrimination?
Can you address any identified adverse impact?
Can you mitigate any negative impact?
Please provide rationale if you are unable to address any adverse impact.
Have you identified any ways of advancing equality in this area? For example, meeting diverse
needs?
● Is there a need for any actions to promote understanding between different protected groups?

The proposed strategy for children’s centre provision in Kingston is based upon the
following principles:
● Ensuring children, young people and families continue to receive a high quality
Children’s Centre offer in Kingston.
● Maximising resources by targeting children’s centre provision at the most vulnerable
families in the most deprived areas through outreach.
● Developing stronger relationships between Achieving for Children and key partners,
including Kingston Council, providing a more joined-up and easy to access offer for
families.
The strategy is a response to the challenging financial situation both locally and nationally
but it provides an opportunity to ensure the children’s centre offer remains sustainable and
maximises limited resources. As such, it seeks to ensure that the overall impact of the

17

A52

ANNEX 2
changes is positive by focusing on ensuring those families who most need help and support
are able to access it. Although the location of children’s centre provision will change, the
offer will broadly remain the same through the use of outreach and community venues. This
aligns with the definition of children’s centres as set out in the background section of this
assessment- it’s not a physical building in a particular location, it’s an offer of services
available and accessible in the community. The main outreach sites that are proposed for
use should the proposals be agreed are located close to areas of deprivation such as
Kingsnympton, the Dickerage Youth Centre and the Cambridge Road Estate.
In many ways the core offer may be strengthened through better relationships with key
partners,for example through greater use of alternative community venues, and by
potentially extending the provision to meet the needs of those aged 0 to 11 rather than just
0 to five during school holidays.
Inevitably, the changes will have an impact on some families in the borough, particularly
those who use the centres that are proposed to be decommissioned. For example, some
parents and carers will be required to travel further to access services. This will be
monitored as part of the implementation plan. The equality assessment has shown that the
proposals may have an impact on some specific groups:
● children aged 0 to five;
● female parents/ carers; and
● expectant or new parents.
In addition, there is likely to be an impact on some specific ethnic groups should New
Malden Children’s Centre be decommissioned due to the large the Korean/ Tamil population
in the New Malden area.
However, Achieving for Children will work with families and with key partners to mitigate
this impact. The aim would be to continue as much service delivery and activity as possible
using alternative local venues with outreach teams. For example:
● increasing some sessions where possible at existing sites i.e. back to back Stay and
Play sessions to enable more families to access;
● increasing outreach activity in affected site areas i.e Dickerage Lane to support
families who are currently accessing Norbiton Children’s Centre; and
● expanding the input of internal and external partners into the children’s centre
programme to address those areas identified within the consultation, such as
sessions for 0-11 year olds during school holidays in partnership with the Achieving
for Children Youth Service.
Each cluster already implements a comprehensive outreach plan into local communities
with specific focus on areas of higher deprivation. This is already happening in a number of
venues in the local area. For example, we are currently delivering a number of activities in
local schools such as Surbiton Children’s Centre Nursery School. This outreach model would
enable us to make savings by no longer using the buildings proposed and no longer having
the associated premises costs.

18

A53

ANNEX 2
If the proposals are agreed, Achieving for Children will work with the findings from the
public consultation to develop a detailed implementation plan to ensure that the future
children’s centre offer reflects the needs and wishes of the users.
CONSULTATION
6. What consultation have you undertaken with stakeholders or critical friends about the
key findings? What feedback did you receive as part of the consultation?
Achieving for Children carried out a public consultation for over seven weeks from 12
December 2018 to 4 February 2019 to gather views and feedback on the proposals.
The main consultation was online through a survey hosted on the Achieving for Children
Local Offer site. All centres promoted and hosted access to the consultation survey online
and provided paper copies where requested. Focused sessions were held in all eight sites
and outreach venues. Translation support, one to one support and targeting of key user
groups formed part of the consultation process. All registered children’s centre users (who
have provided an email address) were also emailed with information about the survey and
key stakeholders were also asked to promote the consultation.
In total, there were 744 responses (the protected characteristic information relating to the
respondents is presented in the equality analysis above). This represents approximately
15.0% of service users who are currently accessing children’s centres. This is a statistically
significant sample but it is important to be mindful that the voices of hard to reach families
may not be fully represented in the sample. As a result, should the recommendations be
agreed, there is a proposal to do more localised consultation with families in the areas that
would be affected by the decommissioning of children’s centres to ensure the voices of
these families are being heard and can feed into service development.
Respondents were asked questions relating to their experience of using children’s centres,
their views on proposals for the future of children’s centres in Kingston, and their views on
enhancing the children’s centre offer.
The key findings were:
Experience of using children’s centres
● The children’s centres most used by the respondents are North Kingston (18.8%); Tolworth
(18.0%); Kingston Town (16.6%); and Chessington (14.3%). The least used centres are Surbiton
(13.5%); New Malden (11.0%); Old Malden (6.1%); and Norbiton (1.7%). The percentage of
respondents who use Norbiton was particularly low.
● In terms of which other children’s centres are used by respondents in addition to the primary
centre that is used, Surbiton (39.1%); Tolworth (32.9%); Kingston Town (28.9%); and Chessington
(20.3%) are the most used. North Kingston (15.7%); New Malden (15.7%); Old Malden (15.5%); and
Norbiton (13.6%) are the least used.
● Children’s centres are well used- almost half of respondents (46.2%) stated they visited children’s
centres one or two times a week and a fifth (20.6%) said they attend two to four times per month.
● The most popular services delivered at the children’s centres are Stay and Play (83.9%); health
visitors (66.2%); Rhyme Time (56.3%); Messy Play (48.5%); and baby massage (40.9%). Other
popular services noted included Baby, Junior and Mama Jammers, breastfeeding advice and
support, and Crafty Tales.

19

A54

ANNEX 2
●
●
●

●

●

The most important services delivered were Stay and Play (97.6%); health visitors (93.4%); early
years advice (91.9%); Messy Play (91.1%); and childcare advice (86.7%). Other services noted as
important included the range of support on offer including breastfeeding support and Jammers.
Respondents were keen to emphasise the importance of the support and help provided at the
centres, the social and community aspects they provide and the play and development
opportunities.
The least popular services were domestic violence support (1.4%); English as an additional
language sessions (1.7%); JobCentre Plus advice (1.7%); foodbank vouchers (2.5%); and benefit
advice (4.2%). The services considered least important were English as an additional language
(27.5%); foodbank vouchers (24.6%); JobCentre Plus advice (23.3%); benefit advice (21.4%); and
family support worker support (18.8%).
Although these services, which are more aimed at parents, were considered less important, 95.0%
of respondents stated that they agreed they could ask for support advice relating to issues such as
health, parenting skills or employment and training from a children’s centre. Respondents praised
the support and advice that is given and the helpful and approachable staff.
In terms of getting to the centres, 86.7% of respondents stated that they walked, with 20.7%
driving. Respondents emphasised the importance of being able to access local provision, ideally by
foot.

Proposals for the future of children’s centres in Kingston
● 64.5% of respondents do not agree with the proposals (strongly disagree/ disagree). 21.3% agree
(strongly agree/ agree) and 14.2% neither agree nor disagree.
● Of the comments provided: 16.7% of respondents can understand the reasons for the proposals;
15.5% thought the proposals are unfair for those who cannot travel easily and may lead to
increased isolation for parents; 14.5% thought the Council should re-prioritise to find funding for
the children’s centres; and 10.0% expressed concern about remaining children’s centre becoming
too busy.
● Just under half of respondents (46.6%) stated the proposals would definitely make it more difficult
to access children’s centre services. 29.9% stated it would make it more difficult to some extent,
20.6% said it wouldn’t make it more difficult, and 3.0% said they did not know. The main comments
related to concerns about the capacity of remaining children’s centres and the distance and time
taken to travel to a children’s centre.
● Just over half of the respondents (51.2%) stated that the changes would mean that they would not
use the children’s centres as much in the future and 15.7% stated they would not use children’s
centres at all. 17.0% of respondents the proposals said it would have no impact at all and 15.6%
said they would use another children’s centre in the future. Concerns raised related to the capacity
of the remaining centres and the required travel.
● Respondents said they would stop using children’s centres or use them less because of additional
travel travel (60.5%); sessions being too full (44.6%); and 44.6% said they would be unable to travel
to any other locations.
● Respondents were asked for comments about how else children’s centre services could be
sustained- responses included re-prioritising other council services (33.6%); seek voluntary
contributions (22.4%); or fundraise (21.6%).
Enhancing the children’s centre offer
● Just under half (49.4%) of respondents agreed with the proposals to re-develop the remaining
children’s centres to offer a wider range of services. 30.1% of respondents did not agree.
● The most popular name for the new centres was ‘Children and Family Centres’ (46.5%).
● If the offer was to be expanded, respondents stated they would like the following services to be
delivered: activities for children aged five to 11 during school holidays (73.9%); postnatal support
and advice (75.3%); expansion of support to children aged between 0 to 11 (rather than 0 to five)
(61.9%); and family support drop in advice (58.9%).

Established consultation mechanisms
There is an overarching joint Children’s Centre Strategic Board Partnership that facilitates
partnership engagement and oversees performance. There are three Advisory Boards, one

20

A55

ANNEX 2
in each cluster, that have an accountability to the Children’s Centre Strategic Board
Partnership. Each cluster also has a parents forum to ensure the voice of the family and
children are used to shape provision and meet identified needs. Children’s centres regularly
hold events, consultations, evaluation and feedback forums to capture the voice of the
service users.
The forums would continue to operate and capture comments and views that will feed into
the planning and design of services.
ACTION PLANNING
7. What issues have you identified that require action?
Issue identified
Planned action
Implementation of the
proposals if agreed by
members

Ensure Achieving for
Children feedback the
results of the public
consultation
Ensuring accurate and
robust data is captured
about the service users
at children’s centre

Develop a detailed
implementation plan
including undertaking
staff consultation in
relation to reductions in
the children’s centre
workforce. The plan to
take into account the
impact on the protected
characteristic groups
outlined in the equality
assessment and seek to
mitigate wherever
possible and where
necessary
Publish the consultation
findings

Continue to work with
the Intelligence Team to
ensure systems are in
place to capture data
about children’s centre
users to help inform
service planning and to
address any data gaps
Ensuring ongoing
Develop a
communication with the communications plan to
parents, carers, children, communicate the
young people and the
implementation plan to
public about the
parents, carers, children
implementation of the
and young people, and
children’s centre
key stakeholders and
strategy
partners.

21

Lead officer

Head of Children,
Youth and
Partnerships

Completion
Date
Work will begin
immediately
should the
proposals be
agreed

Associate Director
for Business
Development and
Communications
Head of Children,
Youth and
Partnerships

By end of
March 2019

Head of Children,
Youth and
Partnerships

Work will begin
immediately
should the
proposals be
agreed

Ongoing

A56

ANNEX 2
MONITORING AND REVIEW
8. How will the actions identified above be monitored and reviewed and where will the
actions be captured i.e. Business Plan, project plan, service and improvement plan, service
plan poster or Personal Development Plan?
The implementation of the children’s centre strategy in Kingston is one of the Achieving for
Children efficiency projects and as such it will be monitored as part of the project
management approach.
PUBLISHING THE COMPLETED ANALYSIS
When completed, the equality assessment should be approved by a member of AfC
Management Team and published on the Achieving for Children website. Please provide
details below:
Approved by
Pauline Maddison, Director of Children’s Services- Kingston
Date of approval:
February 2019
Date of publication:
April 2019

22

B1
Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee

Appendix B

21 March 2019
Statutory Social Care Complaints Annual Report for 2017/18
Report by the Director of Adult Social Care and the Director of Children’s Services
Relevant Portfolio Holders: Councillor Margaret Thompson and Councillor Diane White
Purpose
To inform the Committee of the performance and outcomes of statutory complaints for
adult and children’s social care in 2017/18.
Recommendation
To resolve that the report (and Annexes) on annual statutory social care complaints for
2017/18 are formally received and that any comments from the Committee are referred to
the relevant Directors to consider.
Key Points
A.

Complaints regarding services provided by adult and children’s social care are subject
to statutory complaint procedures initiated by The National Health Service &
Community Care Act 1990 and the Children Act 1989. An annual report is submitted to
inform this Committee of the operation of this statutory process and this report covers
the period 1 April 2017 - 31 March 2018.

B.

Under statutory regulations, we are required to prepare an annual report about the
previous year that examines how well we dealt with Adult and Children’s social care
complaints, including the numbers received and how many we upheld. Our adult
social care service is required to operate a statutory complaints procedure in
accordance with the Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service
Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 and the Local Authority Social Services
Complaints (Amendment) Regulations 2009. Any complaint, which does not fall under
these provisions, we will consider under our corporate complaints procedure instead.
This report will be published on the Council’s website, and made available to
managers and staff, elected members, residents and inspection bodies.

C.

The Adult and Children’s Social Complaints Reports for 2017/18 are attached as
Annex 1 and Annex 2 of this report. Production of the annual complaints report is a
helpful tool enabling the monitoring of performance and providing an essential
overview to complaints concerning social care in Kingston. Complaints relating to
Kingston’s Adult and Children’s social care are managed and monitored by Customer
Care who form part of the Customer Experience Team.

D.

During the year a total of 65 complaints were received:
29 enquiries concerning Adult Social care have been logged with customer care, of
which 11 were logged as stage 1 complaints this is compared to 42 complaints
received in 2016/17. There were 36 enquiries concerning children’s social care, 22 of
these were logged as complaints.

E.

In this period there were 9 referrals concerning Adult Social Care to the Local
Government Ombudsman (LGO) which is the same number of cases logged from the
previous year with the LGO. There were 9 referrals concerning Education and
Children's Services to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) which is a increase
of 9 cases as no cases were logged the previous year with the LGO.

F.

B2
AfC (Achieving for Children) is responsible for Children’s Services across Kingston
and Richmond boroughs. However, complaints relating to Kingston’s children’s
social care continue to be managed and monitored by the Council.

G.

There continues to be a determination on the part of those responsible for
responding to complaints to ensure that a full and comprehensive response is sent
at the initial stage and this is likely to be part of the reason for the comparatively low
number of requests for formal investigations. There have been no Stage 3 Review
Panels this year.

H.

The LGO produces a report of all boroughs, with details on the outcome of referred
complaints during that reporting year. Further information is included in Annexes 1
and 2.

Context
1.

Complaints made regarding services provided by adult and children’s social care are
subject to statutory complaint procedures initiated by The National Health Service &
Community Care Act 1990 and the Children Act 1989.

2.

As part of the Regulations, an annual report has to be presented to the relevant local
authority committee in order to be kept informed of the operation of the complaints
procedure.

3.

Adult and children’s social care are subject to regulatory bodies. These are the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) for adult services and for children’s services, the Office for
Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills, (Ofsted). The CQC continues
to require all local authority adult social care services to produce an annual report
concerning complaints. Ofsted make no stipulation. This report however, does contain
information on both adult and children’s social care complaints. In order to provide a
balanced picture, this report also includes information about compliments received.

Timescale
4.

This report has been produced within the statutory timescale.

Legal Implications
5.

None arising from the specific recommendation of this cover report. The Council has a
number of legal and statutory obligations in relation to Adults and Children’s social
care complaints.

Risk Assessment
6.

The Statutory Complaints procedures for both Adults and Children’s Social Care are
regularly reviewed in accordance with the Council’s Risk Management Framework.
Poor complaint handling could be a reputational and financial risk to the council,
especially with the increase in people using social media to raise awareness of issues.

Equalities Analysis
7.

It is important all those involved in dealing with complaints are mindful of ensuring a
consistent approach with all complainants in line with Equalities principles.

Health Implications
8.

A robust complaints system supports performance and monitoring of service delivery
for the protection, health and wellbeing of our service users including some of the
more vulnerable members of our community.

Background papers -  None. Author of report - Rebecca Peck, Head of Service
Customer Experience, Tel 020 8770 4456
Annex 1 Annex 2

B3

Annex 1
ADULTS SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
Executive Summary
A.

Complaints regarding services provided by adult and children’s social care are
subject to statutory complaint procedures initiated by The National Health Service &
Community Care Act 1990 and the Children Act 1989.

B.

During the year a total of 29 complaints were received:
●
●

29 Enquiries concerning Adult Social care have been logged with the
customer care team
9 Complaints concerning Adult Social Care were logged with the LGO

C

In this period there were nine referrals concerning Adult Social Care
to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) which is the same number of cases
logged from the previous year with the LGO.

D

There continues to be a determination on the part of those responsible for
responding to complaints to ensure that a full and comprehensive response is sent at
the initial stage and this is likely to be part of the reason for the comparatively low
number of requests for formal investigations.

E

The LGO produces a report of all boroughs, with details on the outcome of referred
complaints during that reporting year.

F

In 2017/18, nine cases concerning statutory social care complaints were referred to
the LGO regarding Adult Social Care.

The LGO records a complaint as upheld even if only one element of the complaint is
upheld. Remedies ranged from a written apology to financial compensation in some
cases. The LGO can also make recommendations for improvement in practice.
Four complaints were classed as premature by the LGO and referred back to the
Council to continue the investigation. Three complaints were upheld and two
complaints were not upheld.
From 1 October 2010 the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) was granted
extended powers, which enabled this office to deal with complaints from people who
self fund or arrange their own personal care. The service gives people who self fund
the same access to the LGO as those who have assistance from the Local Authority.
In the same way, people who receive a Direct Payment or Personal Budget to arrange
their own care, are now also able to approach the LGO if they experience problems
with the service they receive through a care agency and have exhausted the route
through the agencies own procedure.

B4

However, if an individual employs a personal assistant (carer) directly they should
continue to seek assistance from the Local Authority via their care manager or adult
services team. This is because the LGO currently has no jurisdiction with regard to
this type of support.
2. Complaints summary
During this reporting period, the Council received 29 complaints concerning adult social
care, 18 were dealt with informally and 11 complaints were logged as stage 1 complaint.
The summary of complaints received for statutory complaint process is as follows:
●
●

11 Stage 1 Complaints
9 complaints concerning Adult Social Care were logged with the LGO

Recording Complaint Outcomes
There are three main categories for recording the outcome of a complaint:
Upheld

Partially
Upheld
Not
Upheld

This is where the Local Authority has accepted responsibility for the concern or
issue raised. This would be acknowledged by a detailed letter of apology and
clarification with reasons and remedies for the matter. It would also include
actions to ensure such a complaint does not recur in the future
The Local Authority accepts some responsibility for part of the complaint. A
response outlining the part that is upheld is sent, stating reasons and proposed
corrective measures.
This usually means that the complaint was investigated but no fault or error
was found. We would explain carefully and thoroughly our reasons for our
conclusion, providing support evidence where possible

Stage 1 complaints:
Summary of stage 1 complaints logged during this reporting period:
● Stage 1 complaint logged Partially uphold September 2017
Miss X raised a complaint as she is unhappy with the outcome of a review that was carried
out in May 2017 by the Social Worker and the subsequent reduction in the level of support
being offered.
Conclusion to Complaint: Partially Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - July 2017
Miss B complaint about funding in relation to medication prompt calls for Miss B father, the
impact on his health and subsequent admission to hospital. Miss B raised concern that the
communication was ambiguous from adult social care and incorrect and inaccurate
information being given.

B5

Conclusion to Complaint:Partially Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - June 2017
Miss X complained about her entitlement and that our staff at RBK are expected to have
some knowledge of the support and advice on welfare benefits
Conclusion to Complaint: Not Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - July 2017
Miss C complaints dissatisfaction with the DoLS process and that she felt that it was used to
prevent Mrs x r from having a choice in deciding where she wanted to live.
Conclusion to Complaint: Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - February 2018
Miss C raised a complaint regarding the involvement of Kingston Social Services with her
mother, Mrs X.
Conclusion to Complaint: Not Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - April 2017
Miss V felted disappointed and angry with the co-ordination and management of her Mother,
Mrs W discharge from Kingston Hospital to a Nursing home placement.
Conclusion to Complaint: Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - September 2017
Miss x made a complaint regarding deterioration in her mother’s health and sufficiency of
care she receives is no longer enough and therefore started the process to request a
residential place after completion of a financial assessment was advised the facility
suggested could not be considered.
Conclusion to Complaint: Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - March 2018
Miss M complained on behalf of Mr M regarding backdated payments from June 2015 for her
father’s care costs. Miss M stated she was not informed of the client contribution costs until
the letter from RBK Finance Department was received.
Conclusion to Complaint: Upheld
● Stage 1 complaint logged - October 2017
Miss Z complained following a recent appeal to adults social care services regarding a
permanent residential placement for her mother

B6

Conclusion to Complaint: Not Upheld

● Stage 1 complaint logged - April 2018
Miss E raised a complaint regarding the support arrangement for her uncle Mr X.

Conclusion to Complaint: Not Upheld

● Stage 1 complaint logged - February 2018
Miss X complained about the actions taken by Adult Social Care in relation to her father’s
care and welfare and the scope and accuracy of the safeguarding enquiry completed by
Adult Social Care.
Conclusion to Complaint: Not Upheld

5. Ombudsman cases:
During this reporting period, the Local Government Ombudsman received 9 referrals
regarding Adult Social Care Services.
The summary of complaints received is as follows:
●
●
●

3 Upheld
2 Not upheld
4 Referred back for local resolution

Some examples of the Ombudsman enquiries that was published during this reporting
period:
●

Statement Upheld Other 08-Jan-2018

Summary: The Council was at fault in the way it allowed money to accrue in Ms X's account
without monitoring the amount. As a result, she not only lost out on the use of money which
could have improved her standard of living, but she also suffered the shock and distress of
being notified that she was no longer entitled to benefits. The Council acknowledged and
rectified the matter and agrees now to apologise to Ms X and offer a payment to recognise
the injustice its failings caused.
●

Statement Upheld Charging 02-Jan-2018

Summary: The Council was at fault in the way it communicated with Mr and Mrs X, dealt with
Mr Y's financial assessments and Mr X's complaint about this. It will apologise and pay Mr X
£350, waive some of Mr Y's contributions and act to avoid similar problems in future.

B7

●

Statement Not upheld Charging 20-Jul-2017

Summary: There is no evidence of fault in the way the Council reached its decision that Mrs
A had intentionally deprived herself of assets in order to avoid paying care home costs. The
complaint is not upheld.
●

Statement Not upheld Assessment and care plan 18-May-2017

Summary: The Council was unable to complete a financial assessment which would identify
Mrs X's disability-related expenditure, and ways of providing evidence for that expenditure,
until her support plan was finalised. The complaint is not upheld.
6. Learning from complaints
For this reporting period, the learning was focused on the stage 1 complaint process:
●
●
●

●

Improve communication with residents when processing financial assessments
Ensuring that Financial Assessments are completed in a timely way
Completing an annual needs review (Financial Health Checks) to ensure that Disability
Related Expenditure (DRE) are maximised so that the charge calculation is affordable as per
the charging policy
Developed an Easy Read DRE leaflet which explains how to apply for additional money an

individual may need to spend due to disability or ill health
●
●

●

Supporting users through budgeting which will ensure that contributions calculated under
the current charging policy are affordable
Providing Welfare Benefits Advice within ASC and Shared Services Finance (appointeeship)
to deal with complex casework such as appeals, revision, sanctions and all other PIP-related
queries.
Informing the Corporate Welfare Reform Board of how the introduction of PIP is impacting
service users

B8

Annex 2
CHILDREN SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
Executive Summary
A.

Children’s Social Care complaints are investigated under the statutory provisions of
the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. The
legislation is supported by detailed guidance from the Department for Education,
‘Getting the Best from Complaints’, and used in the development of the Children and
Families Social Care complaints procedure published by the Council. Customer Care
has the key responsibility for managing the statutory process for complaints from
children and young people (or their representatives) about the quality of the service
they receive. The Council’s procedure establishes a framework for dealing with
complaints about the Council. It provides those who complain with assurance that
their concerns will be treated fairly and sensitively. It enables officers to find ways of
improving performance when things go wrong and to be clear and confident about
managing situations where a complaint is investigated and not upheld Complaints
regarding services provided by Children’s Social Care are subject to statutory
complaint procedures initiated by Children Act 1989. This report covers the period 1
April 2017 - 31 March 2018.

B.

During the year a total of 36 enquiries were received:
●
●

36 enquiries concerning children’s social care have been logged with the
customer team out of the 36 enquiries 22 were logged as complaints.
9 complaints concerning Education and Children's Services was logged with
the LGO

C

In this period there were nine referrals concerning Education and Children's Services
to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) which is a increase of nine cases as
there was no cases logged the previous year with the LGO.

D

AfC, (Achieving for Children) is responsible for Children’s Services across Kingston
and Richmond boroughs. However, complaints relating to Kingston’s children’s social
care continue to be managed and monitored by the Customer Care Team.
Stage One – Local Resolution
This stage provides the opportunity for managers and staff who have responsibility
for the case, to try and resolve issues of dissatisfaction at a local level as early as
possible. The Social Care Complaints Team also provides support and guidance to
both the complainant and the service manager, to help achieve early resolution and,
where things have gone wrong, ensure that matters are put right quickly with lessons
learned captured and fed back into service improvements.
The timescale for resolving complaints at Stage One is 10 working days, but can be
extended to 20 working days for more complex cases.

1

B9

The timescale in which a complaint is to be responded to is decided by Customer
Care and agreed with the complainant, based upon the information in the complaint
and the best way to try and resolve it. For example, a parent may want to have a
meeting with the team manager to discuss the issues first. It is not always possible to
arrange this and respond within 10 working days
Stage Two Investigation
This part of the procedure is used when the complainant remains dissatisfied after a
Stage One investigation, or the complaint is sufficiently serious to warrant a more
formal investigation.
This stage allows for a fresh and independent look at the original complaint. The
investigation is conducted by an external Investigating Officer (and an Independent
Person when required) who oversees the fairness and transparency of the
investigation process.
The Investigating Officer and Independent Person will look at all details surrounding
the complaint and make recommendations for a better or improved service, and how
any service failings can be rectified.
After considering the findings and recommendations of the investigation, the
Assistant Director Children's Social Care Achieving for Childrenprovides a written
response to the complainant setting out their view of whether or not they accept the
outcome of the investigation.
The timescale for responding to complaints at Stage Two is 25 working days. This
can be extended to 65 working days if necessary; but this is always done with the
agreement of the complainant.
Stage Three Review Panel
If there is any residual dissatisfaction with the outcome at Stage Two, the
complainant can request that the issues are taken to a Review Panel consisting of
three independent panellists.
The panel considers the complaint and makes recommendations for the
consideration of the Director Children's Social Care Achieving for Children; who will
then respond to the complainant on the outcome of the review and any actions to be
taken.
There are various timescales relating to Stage Three complaints, including:
o Organising the panel within 30 working days of the complainant’s request;
o Producing the Chairperson’s report within 5 working days detailing its
recommendations; and
o Sending the local authority’s response to the complainant within 15 working days of
the Panel’s report.

2

B10

2. Complaints summary

During this reporting period, the Council received twenty two stage 1 complaints, and three
stage 2 complaints which is a decrease on the previous reporting period when we received
thirty stage 1 complaints.
The summary of complaints received for all three stages of the statutory complaint process is
as follows:
●
●
●

22 Stage 1 Complaints
3 Stage 2 Complaints
0 Stage 3 Complaint logged with in this period

Stage 1 complaints:
Summary of stage 1 complaints logged during this reporting period:
●

Stage 1 complaint logged - 25 Jan 2018

Summary: Miss B would like to make a complaint about her experience as a parent since
the care order was made for her two younger children in 2016 about the way that Children's
Services have engaged with her as a disabled parent during the adoption process. Miss B
feels that she has been treated unfairly and she is particularly unhappy about her children's
Social Worker.
●

Stage 1 complaint logged -17 November 2017

Summary: Mr X raised a complaint about his son’s social worker and her manager, Mr X
explained that he feels that the social worker has a bullying attitude towards him and that
she is aggressive in her manner. He feels that the way he is treated is supported by her
manager.

●

Stage 1 complaint logged - 13 July 2017

Summary: Miss B is a Care Leaver supported by the Royal Borough of Kingston and was
placed at a residential unit but Miss B was offered a place at a University where she was
able to continue her studies.
Miss B stated that her Pathway Plan stated that, at the end of her current College
placement, she would be moved to semi-independent accommodation however, she has
was informed that she is to leave her current placement at the end of June 2017 and transfer
to a foster placement Miss B complain this as a backward step rather than a sequential
move towards independent living.

3

B11

Summary of Findings at Stage 1:
●
●
●

3 Upheld
12 Not upheld
7 Partially upheld

73% of the stage 1 complaints were responded to within the statutory timeframe.

3. Stage 2 complaints:

Stage 2 complaints received during this reporting period:
●

Stage 2 complaint logged - 27 Feb 2017

Summary: Miss X believes that the council has dealt with her family in the in the wrong
manner and that the council refused to look in to the case where she felt the children was at
risk from Mr X.
Conclusion to Complaint:Not Upheld
●

Stage 2 complaint logged - 13 March 2017

Summary: Mr S originally asked the LA to apply for an EHCP and felt that if his children had
earlier intervention and assessments, they would not have suffered so much. They would
have had appropriate MH support and appropriate education and their outcomes would have
been so much better than they currently are.
Conclusion to Complaint: Not Upheld
●

Stage 2 complaint logged - 7 April 2017

Summary : Miss M complained that the lack of allocated Personal Adviser during April/May
2015 and June/July 2015, at such a critical time (when trying to arrange to live/work/study
abroad as part of her University degree) was detrimental to my health and wellbeing, as no
effective communication or trusting relationship could be established.

Summary of Findings:
7 of the complaints were upheld,2 partially upheldand 2 not upheld

4. Stage 3 complaints:

No complaints progressed to stage 3 during this period.

5. Ombudsman cases:

During this reporting period, the Local Government Ombudsman received 9 referrals
regarding Education & Childrens Services.

4

B12

The summary of complaints received is as follows:
●
●
●

4 Closed after initial enquiries
2 Upheld
3 Referred back for local resolution

Some examples of the Ombudsman enquiries that was published during this reporting
period:
●

Closedafter initial enquiries - Child protection 14-Feb-2018

Summary: Ms X's complaint about the conduct of two social workers and a report they
produced. The report was used as part of court proceedings and the matter is therefore
outside the Ombudsman's jurisdiction. The Ombudsman has no powers to consider Ms X's
complaint about the school year her son is educated in.
●

Final decision: UpheldLooked after children 13-Feb-2018

Summary: The Council was at fault in how long it took to process Miss B's complaint under
the Children Act 1989 complaints procedure. It has agreed to apologise for the delay. Miss B
also complains that the Council was refusing to pay a financial remedy - agreed during the
complaints procedure - to her, and was instead intending to pay it into her student loan
account. The Council has now agreed to pay the money to her directly.
●

Final decision: Upheld Special educational needs 19-Dec-2017

Summary: Mrs B complains the Council failed to issue an Education, Health and Care Plan
(EHCP) for her son in a timely manner. She says he was not supported appropriately
because of this. There is evidence of fault and the Council has been asked to apologise,
make a payment and review its procedures.
●

Final decision: Closedafter initial enquiries Child protection 18-Oct-2017

Summary: The Ombudsman should not investigate Mr B's complaint about the content of a
report prepared by the Council as part of a child protection case. This is because the
Ombudsman cannot consider complaints about evidence submitted in court, and it is
reasonable to expect Mr B to pursue his own court action if he believes the report is libellous
or defamatory. As the substantive issue is outside the Ombudsman's jurisdiction, we would
not normally investigate associated concerns about the complaints process in isolation.
●

Final decision: Closedafter initial enquiries Child protection 17-Sep-2017

Summary: The Ombudsman will not investigate Ms A's complaint that the Council has failed
to take action in response to her concerns about her children's safety. The care of the
children has been considered in court and it would have been appropriate for her to bring her
concerns to the court's attention.

5

B13

6. Learning from complaints

For this reporting period, the learning was focused complaints raised with the LGO:
●

Review the complaints process and ensure staff are aware on the process if they
receive a complaint.

6

